GROUP-THEORETIC CHARACTERIZATIONS OF ALMOST OPEN IMMERSIONS OF CURVES

Yu Yang

Abstract

Let p be a prime number and k either a finite field of characteristic p or a generalized sub-p-adic field. Let X_1 and X_2 be hyperbolic curves over k. In the present paper, we introduce a kind of morphism between X_1 and X_2 called an almost open immersion, and give some group-theoretic characterizations for the set of almost open immersions between X_1 and X_2 via their arithmetic fundamental groups. This result generalizes the Isom-version of Grothendieck's anabelian conjecture for curves over k which has been proven by S. Mochizuki and A. Tamagawa to the case of almost open immersions.

Keywords: hyperbolic curve, fundamental group, anabelian geometry. Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 14H30; Secondary 11G20, 14G32.

Contents

| 1 | Preliminaries | 7 |
|----------|---|----|
| 2 | The kernels of surjections of geometric fundamental groups | 14 |
| 3 | Hopfian and weakly Hopfian properties | 22 |
| 4 | Group-theoretic characterizations of almost open immersions | 25 |

Introduction

In the present paper, we study the anabelian geometry of curves. Let p be a prime number, k a field, \overline{k} an algebraic closure of k, and G_k the absolute Galois group of k.

Let X_i , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, be a hyperbolic curve of type (g_{X_i}, n_{X_i}) over k (i.e., X_i is a smooth, geometrically connected curve over k satisfying $2g_{X_i} + n_{X_i} - 2 > 0$, where g_{X_i} is the genus of the smooth compactification X_i^{cpt} , and n_{X_i} is the cardinality of $(X_i^{\text{cpt}} \setminus X_i)(\overline{k})$) and \overline{X}_i the curve $X_i \times_k \overline{k}$ over \overline{k} . Then we have the following exact sequence of étale fundamental groups:

$$1 \to \pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *) \to \pi_1(X_i, *) \stackrel{\operatorname{pr}_{X_i}}{\to} G_k \to 1,$$

where * is a suitable geometric point.

Let \mathfrak{Primes} be the set of prime numbers, $p \in \Sigma_1 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ a finite set, and $p \notin \Sigma_2 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ a finite set. We set

$$\Sigma \in \{\mathfrak{Primes}, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_1, \mathrm{tame}\} \text{ if } \mathrm{char}(k) = p$$

and

$$\Sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_2 \text{ if } \operatorname{char}(k) = 0.$$

Write Δ_{X_i} for $\pi_1^{\Sigma}(\overline{X}_i, *)$, where $\pi_1^{\Sigma}(\overline{X}_i, *)$ denotes the maximal pro- Σ quotient of $\pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *)$ if $\Sigma \in \{\mathfrak{Primes}, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_1, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_2\}$ and denotes the tame fundamental group of \overline{X}_i if $\Sigma =$ tame. Then the kernel of the natural surjection $\pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i}$ is a closed normal subgroup of $\pi_1(X_i, *)$. Moreover, we denote by

$$\Pi_{X_i} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi_1(X_i, *) / (\operatorname{Ker}(\pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i})).$$

Thus, we obtain the following exact sequence of fundamental groups:

$$1 \to \Delta_{X_i} \to \Pi_{X_i} \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}_{X_i}^{\Sigma}}{\to} G_k \to 1.$$

We define

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}(-,-)$$
 and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(-,-)$

to be the set of continuous isomorphisms and the set of open continuous homomorphisms of profinite groups between the two profinite groups in parentheses, respectively, and define

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \mid \operatorname{pr}_{X_1}^{\Sigma} = \operatorname{pr}_{X_2}^{\Sigma} \circ \Phi \}, \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \mid \operatorname{pr}_{X_1}^{\Sigma} = \operatorname{pr}_{X_2}^{\Sigma} \circ \Phi \}.$$

Thus, by composing with inner automorphisms, we obtain a natural action of Δ_{X_2} on $\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ and a natural action of Δ_{X_2} on $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$.

We consider the category C_k of smooth k-curves and dominant k-morphisms. If char(k) = p, we denote by \mathcal{FC}_k the localization of C_k at geometric k-Frobenius maps between curves (cf. [S1, Section 3]). The ultimate aim of Grothendieck's anabelian conjectures (or, the Grothendieck conjectures for short) for curves over suitable k is to reconstruct the curves from their fundamental groups. More precisely, these conjectures can be formulated as follows:

(Isom-version): The natural maps

Isom-
$$\pi_1^{\Sigma}$$
: Isom _{\mathcal{C}_k} $(X_1, X_2) \to$ Isom _{G_k} $(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})/$ Inn (Δ_{X_2})

 $if \operatorname{char}(k) = 0$ and

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

if char(k) = p are bijections.

Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = 0$. If $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$ and k is a number field, then Isom-version was proved by H. Nakamura (cf. [N1], [N2]) when the genus of $X_i, i \in \{1, 2\}$, is 0, and was proved by A. Tamagawa (cf. [T1]) in the case of arbitrary affine curves. Later, S. Mochizuki (cf. [M2]) generalized their results to the case where k is a generalized sub-padic field (i.e., a field which can be embedded as a subfield of a finitely generated extension of the quotient field of the ring of Witt vectors with coefficients in an algebraic closed field of \mathbb{F}_p), Σ is a set which contains p, and $X_i, i \in \{1, 2\}$, is an arbitrary hyperbolic curve over k.

Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. If $\Sigma \in \{\operatorname{\mathfrak{Primes}}, \operatorname{tame}\}$ and k is a finite field, then Isomversion was proved by Tamagawa (cf. [T1]) when $X_i, i \in \{1, 2\}$, is affine, and was proved by Mochizuki (cf. [M4]) when $X_i, i \in \{1, 2\}$, is projective. Recently, M. Saïdi and Tamagawa (cf. [ST1], [ST3]) generalized their results to the case where $p \notin \Sigma$ is a complement of a finite subset of $\operatorname{\mathfrak{Primes}}$. On the other hand, J. Stix (cf. [S1], [S2]) proved Isom-version when $\Sigma = \operatorname{tame}$ and k is a field that is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p .

In fact, by applying *p*-adic Hodge theory, Mochizuki proved a very general version when k is a sub-*p*-adic field (i.e., a field which can be embedded as a subfield of a finitely generated extension of \mathbb{Q}_p) as follows (cf. [M1]):

(Hom-version of characteristic 0): Suppose that k is a sub-p-adic field. Then natural map

$$\operatorname{Hom} \pi_1^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

is a bijection.

Moreover, we have the following commutative diagram:

when char(k) = 0. Since all the vertical arrows appeared in the commutative diagrams above are injections, we have that

Hom-version of characteristic $0 \Rightarrow$ Isom-version of characteristic 0.

On the other hand, since the method used in [M1] can not work well in the case of generalized sub-*p*-adic fields, we do not know whether Hom-version of characteristic 0 above holds or not if k is a generalized sub-*p*-adic field.

Similar like in the case of characteristic 0, we may consider certain Hom-versions of the Grothendieck conjectures for curves in positive characteristic (=Hom-version of positive characteristic) which is one of the main open problems in anabelian geometry. Essentially, Hom-version of positive characteristic is a kind of problems concerning the following fundamental anabelian style questions:

• Can we find out all of the continuous homomorphisms contained in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ which can be induced by morphisms of X_1 and X_2 ?

• Can we give a purely group-theoretic characterization of morphisms of curves in terms of Π_{X_1} and Π_{X_2} as simple as possible?

Moreover, an optimistic expectation for Hom-version of positive characteristic is the following ultimate goal:

The natural map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

is a bijection.

Hom-version of positive characteristic is a much more difficult problem than Isom-version of positive characteristic. Since Tamagawa proved the Isom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for affine curves over finite fields in the 1990s, at the time of writing, except some obvious cases (e.g. $X_1 \to X_2$ is a finite étale morphism, $\Pi_{X_1} \subseteq \Pi_{X_2}$ is an open normal subgroup), no published results concerning the Grothendieck conjecture for curves in positive characteristic for **non-isomorphisms** are known even the following case:

Suppose that k is a finite field, that $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$, and that $g_{X_1} = g_{X_2}$ and $n_{X_1} \ge n_{X_2}$. Which elements contained in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ can be induced by morphisms from X_1 to X_2 ? How to give a purely group-theoretic characterization of elements of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ in terms of étale fundamental groups of X_1 and X_2 ?

Note that, if $(g_{X_1}, n_{X_1}) = (g_{X_2}, n_{X_2})$, then all of the elements of $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ are surjections, and all of the morphisms between X_1 and X_2 are compositions of isomorphisms and Frobenius twists. Since Π_{X_i} , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, is not topologically finitely generated, we do not known whether or not a surjection $\Pi_{X_1} \to \Pi_{X_2}$ is an isomorphism in general. Thus, we do not known whether or not the surjection of profinite groups arises from geometry in general.

On the other hand, we would like to mention that Saïdi and Tamagawa obtained a birational version of Hom-version of positive characteristic for function fields of curves over finite fields under certain conditions (cf. [ST2]).

In the present paper, we prove a certain type of Grothendieck's anabelian conjecture for a kind of **non-isomorphisms** called almost open immersions. This result generalizes the Isom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for curves over either a finite field or a generalized sub-*p*-adic field which has been proven by Mochizuki and Tamagawa.

Before we explain our main theorem of the present paper, let us introduce some notation. Let $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ be a separable k-morphism. We shall say that $f: X_1 \to X_2$ is separable Σ -almost open immersion if f is a composition of an open immersion and a **finite** étale morphism such that the Galois group of the Galois closure of the finite étale morphism is a finite quotient of Π_{X_2} . Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. Let $\phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$. We shall say that $\phi: X_1 \to X_2$ is a Σ -almost open immersion if ϕ can be represented by the following k-morphisms

$$X_1 \cong_k Y(m_1) \leftarrow Y \to Y(m_2) \to X_2$$

such that $Y(m_2) \to X_2$ is a separable Σ -almost open immersion, where $Y(m_1)$ and $Y(m_2)$ denote the m_1^{th} -Frobenius twist and m_2^{th} -Frobenius twist of Y, respectively, and \cong_k is a k-isomorphism. Then we define

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}^{\Sigma\text{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$$

if char(k) = 0 and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\text{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$$

if $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$ to be the sets of all the Σ -almost open immersions between X_1 and X_2 . On the other hand, we introduce a purely group-theoretic condition (Σ -gnc) concerning genus (cf. cf. Section 1 and Proposition 1.2). We denote by

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2})$$

for the elements of $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ satisfying the condition (Σ -gnc). Then the natural maps $\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_1}^{\Sigma}$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_k}^{\Gamma_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma}$ induce the following natural maps:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_{1}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_{k}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_{1},X_{2})\to\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{1}},\Pi_{X_{2}})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}})$$

if char(k) = 0 and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

-

if char(k) = p which fit into the following commutative diagrams:

and

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}}(X_{1}, X_{2}) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}} - \pi_{1}^{\Sigma}} & \operatorname{Isom}_{G_{k}}(\Pi_{X_{1}}, \Pi_{X_{2}}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}}) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}}^{\Sigma \text{-al-op-im}}(X_{1}, X_{2}) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}} - \pi_{1}^{\Sigma \text{-gnc}}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma \text{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{1}}, \Pi_{X_{2}}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}}) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}}(X_{1}, X_{2}) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_{k}} - \pi_{1}^{\Sigma}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_{1}}, \Pi_{X_{2}}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}}), \end{split}$$

respectively. Here, all the vertical arrows appeared in the commutative diagrams above are injections. Now, our main theorem of the present paper is as follows (cf. Theorem 4.2 and Theorem 4.3).

Theorem 0.1. Suppose that k is either a finite field of characteristic p or a generalized sub-p-adic field. Then the natural maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_{1}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_{k}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_{1},X_{2})\xrightarrow{\sim}\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{1}},\Pi_{X_{2}})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}})$$

 $if \operatorname{char}(k) = 0$ and

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} \operatorname{-} \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$

if char(k) = p are bijections.

Remark 0.1.1. We maintain the notation introduced in Theorem 0.1. Suppose that $g_{X_1} = g_{X_2} \ge 1$ and $n_{X_1} \ge n_{X_2}$. Then all of the morphisms contained in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ (resp. $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$) are Σ -almost open immersions. Thus, we obtain a group-theoretic characterization of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ (resp. $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$) in terms of Π_{X_1} and Π_{X_2} .

Our method of proving Theorem 0.1 is as follows. The main difficult is proving the surjectivity of Hom- $\pi_1^{\Sigma\text{-gnc}}$ and Hom_{\mathcal{FC}_k}- $\pi_1^{\Sigma\text{-gnc}}$. Let $\Phi \in \text{Hom}_{G_k}^{\text{open},\Sigma\text{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2})$. To verify that the image of Φ in Hom_{G_k}^{open,\Sigma\text{-gnc}}(Π_{X_1},Π_{X_2})/Inn(Δ_{X_2}) comes from a morphism of curves, it is easy to see that we may assume that Φ is a surjection. First, we assume that $\Sigma \neq \mathfrak{Primes}$ when char(k) = p. By using the condition (Σ -gnc), we prove that the kernel of the surjection $\Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}$ induced by Φ is generated by inertia subgroups of Δ_{X_1} associated to cups of X_1 (cf. Theorem 2.6 (i)). Then we can reduce Theorem 0.1 to the Isom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for curves over k which has been proven by Mochizuki when k is a generalized sub-p-adic field (cf. [M2]), and Saïdi-Tamagawa when k is a finite field (cf. [ST3]).

Next, we assume that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$ and $\Sigma = \operatorname{\mathfrak{Primes}}$. In this case, the proof of Theorem 0.1 is more complicated than the prime-to-p (or tame) case explained above. We introduce a purely group-theoretic condition (Σ -prc) concerning p-rank (cf. Section 1 and Proposition 1.2), and by (Σ -gnc) and (Σ -prc), we can also prove that the kernel of the surjection $\Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}$ induced by Φ is generated by inertia subgroups of Δ_{X_1} associated to cups of X_1 (cf. Theorem 2.4 (ii)). By applying the prime-to-p version of Theorem 0.1, then we can reduce Theorem 0.1 to a result concerning Hopfian and weakly Hopfian properties of fundamental groups of curves in positive characteristic (cf. Section 3).

The present paper is organized as follows. In Section 1, we review some well-known facts concerning the Isom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for curves, introduce two purely group-theoretic conditions (Σ -gnc) and (Σ -prc), and give a group-theoretic characterization of the sets of cusps of hyperbolic curves. In Section 2, we study the kernels of surjections of geometric fundamental groups, and prove that the kernels are generated by inertia subgroups under the conditions (Σ -gnc) and (Σ -prc). In Section 3, by applying a finiteness theorem concerning étale coverings with restricted ramification of a variety over a finite field obtained by T. Hiranouchi, we study the Hopfian and weakly Hopfian properites of fundamental groups of curves in positive characteristic. In Section 4, by applying the Isom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for curves and the results obtained in Section 2 and Section 3, we prove our main theorems.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank the referee very much for carefully reading the manuscript and for giving many comments which substantially helped improving the quality of the paper. The author would like to thank Yuichiro Hoshi, Haoyu Hu, Shinichi Mochizuki, Akio Tamagawa, and Kazuki Tokimoto for their useful comments. This research was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 16J08847.

1 Preliminaries

Let p > 0 be a prime number, \mathbb{F}_p a finite field of characteristic p, and $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ an algebraic closure of \mathbb{F}_p . We shall say that a field is generalized sub-p-adic if the field may be embedded as a subfield of a finitely generated extension of the quotient field of $W(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p)$ (i.e., the ring of Witt vectors of $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$). Let k be either a **finite field** of characteristic p or a **generalized sub-p-adic field** and \overline{k} an algebraic closure of k. We shall say that X_i , $i \in \{1, 2\}$, is a hyperbolic curve of type (g_{X_i}, n_{X_i}) over k if X_i is a smooth, geometrically connected curve over k satisfying $2g_{X_i} + n_{X_i} - 2 > 0$, where g_{X_i} is the genus of the smooth compactification X_i^{cpt} , and n_{X_i} is the cardinality of $(X_i^{\text{cpt}} \setminus X_i)(\overline{k})$. Then we have the following fundamental exact sequence of étale fundamental groups:

$$1 \to \pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *) \to \pi_1(X_i, *) \stackrel{\operatorname{pr}_{X_i}}{\to} G_k \to 1,$$

where \overline{X}_i denotes the curve $X_i \times_k \overline{k}$, G_k denotes the absolute Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/k)$ of k, and * is a suitable geometric point. For simplicity, we omit * and denote by $\pi_1(X_i)$ and $\pi_1(\overline{X}_i)$ the étale fundamental groups $\pi_1(X_i, *)$ and $\pi_1(\overline{X}_i, *)$, respectively.

Let \mathfrak{Primes} be the set of prime numbers, $p \in \Sigma_1 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ a finite set, and $p \notin \Sigma_2 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ a finite set. We put

$$\Sigma \in \{ \mathfrak{Primes}, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_1, ext{tame} \} ext{ if } ext{char}(k) = p$$

and

$$\Sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_2 \text{ if } \operatorname{char}(k) = 0.$$

Write Δ_{X_i} for $\pi_1^{\Sigma}(\overline{X}_i)$, where $\pi_1^{\Sigma}(\overline{X}_i)$ denotes the maximal pro- Σ quotient of $\pi_1(\overline{X}_i)$ if $\Sigma \in {\{\mathfrak{Primes}, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_1, \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_2\}}$ and denotes the tame fundamental group of \overline{X}_i if $\Sigma =$ tame. Note that

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\pi_1(\overline{X}_i) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i})$$

is also a normal closed subgroup of $\pi_1(X_i)$. Then we denote by

$$\Pi_{X_i} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi_1(X_i) / (\operatorname{Ker}(\pi_1(\overline{X}_i) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i})).$$

Moreover, we obtain a commutative diagram as follows:

where all the vertical arrows are surjections.

We define

$$\text{Isom}_{\text{pro-gps}}(-,-)$$
 and $\text{Hom}_{\text{pro-gps}}^{\text{open}}(-,-)$

to be the set of continuous isomorphisms and the set of open continuous homomorphisms of profinite groups between the two profinite groups in parentheses, respectively, and define

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \mid \operatorname{pr}_{X_1}^{\Sigma} = \operatorname{pr}_{X_2}^{\Sigma} \circ \Phi \}, \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ \Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) \mid \operatorname{pr}_{X_1}^{\Sigma} = \operatorname{pr}_{X_2}^{\Sigma} \circ \Phi \}.$$

Thus, by composing with inner automorphisms, we obtain a natural action of Δ_{X_2} on $\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ and a natural action of Δ_{X_2} on $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$.

We consider the category C_k of smooth k-curves and dominant k-morphisms. If char(k) = p, we denote by \mathcal{FC}_k the localization of C_k at geometric k-Frobenius maps between curves. Then we obtain the following commutative diagrams:

if char(k) = 0 and

if $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$, where all the vertical arrows are injections. Moreover, the following Isomversion of the Grothendieck conjecture for hyperbolic curves over k has been known (cf. [M2, Theorem 4.12], [T1, Theorem 0.5 and Theorem 0.6], and [ST3, Theorem 4.22]):

Theorem 1.1. The natural maps

Isom-
$$\pi_1^{\Sigma}$$
: Isom _{\mathcal{C}_k} $(X_1, X_2) \xrightarrow{\sim}$ Isom _{G_k} $(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})/\text{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$

 $if \operatorname{char}(k) = 0$ and

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

if char(k) = p are bijections.

Let \mathcal{F} be a geometric object and $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ a profinite group associated to the geometric object \mathcal{F} . Given an invariant $\operatorname{Inv}_{\mathcal{F}}$ depending on the isomorphism class of \mathcal{F} (in a certain category), we shall say that $\operatorname{Inv}_{\mathcal{F}}$ can be reconstructed group-theoretically from

 $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ if $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}_1} \cong \Pi_{\mathcal{F}_2}$ (as profinite groups) implies that $\operatorname{Inv}_{\mathcal{F}_1} = \operatorname{Inv}_{\mathcal{F}_2}$ for two such geometric objects \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 . Moreover, suppose that we are given an additional structure $\mathrm{Add}_{\mathcal{F}}$ (e.g., a family of subgroups) on the profinite group $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ depending functorially on \mathcal{F} ; then we shall say that $Add_{\mathcal{F}}$ can be reconstructed group-theoretically from $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}}$ if all isomorphisms $\Pi_{\mathcal{F}_1} \cong \Pi_{\mathcal{F}_2}$ (as profinite groups) preserve the structures $\operatorname{Add}_{\mathcal{F}_1}$ and $\operatorname{Add}_{\mathcal{F}_2}$.

Let $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_{X_1}, \Delta_{X_2})$. We denote by

$$\Delta_{\Phi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Im}(\overline{\Phi}) \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$$

the image of $\overline{\Phi}$. We introduce a condition concerning genus as follows:

(Σ -gnc): For each open subgroup $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{\Phi}$, write \overline{H}_1 for the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$. We denote by $g_{\overline{H}_1}$ and $g_{\overline{H}_2}$ the genera of the curves over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. We shall say that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc) if $g_{\overline{H}_1} = g_{\overline{H}_2}$ for each open subgroup $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{\Phi}$.

Let C be a smooth curve over \overline{k} and C^{cpt} the smooth compactification of C. If char(k) = p, we define the p-rank of C to be

$$\sigma_C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim_{\mathbb{F}_p}(\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(C^{\mathrm{cpt}}, \mathbb{F}_p)).$$

Next, we introduce a condition concerning *p*-rank as follows:

(Σ -prc): Suppose that char(k) = p and $\Sigma \in {\mathfrak{Primes}, tame}$. For each open subgroup $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{\Phi}$, write \overline{H}_1 for the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$. We denote by $\sigma_{\overline{H}_1}$ and $\sigma_{\overline{H}_2}$ the *p*-rank of the curves over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. We shall say that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -prc) if $\sigma_{\overline{H}_1} = \sigma_{\overline{H}_2}$ for each open subgroup $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{\Phi}$.

Note that if $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc) (resp. (Σ -prc)), then, for each open subgroup $\overline{Q}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$, the homomorphism $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{Q}_2) \to \overline{Q}_2$ induced by $\overline{\Phi}$ also satisfies (Σ -gnc) (resp. (Σ -prc)).

Proposition 1.2. (i) Suppose that char(k) = p, and that Σ is either \mathfrak{Primes} or tame. Then (Σ -gnc) and (Σ -prc) are group-theoretic properties.

(ii) Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$. Write $\overline{\Phi} : \Delta_{X_1} \to \Delta_{X_2}$ for the morphism induced by Φ . Then (Σ -gnc) is a group-theoretical property.

Proof. For each $\overline{H}_1 \subseteq \Delta_{\Phi}$ and $\overline{H}_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_1)$, we shall write $X_{\overline{H}_i}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, for the

hyperbolic curve of genus $g_{\overline{H}_i}$ over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{H}_i . First, we prove (i). Suppose that $\Sigma =$ tame. Then we see immediately that $\sigma_{\overline{H}_i} =$ $\dim_{\mathbb{F}_p}(\overline{H}_i^{\mathrm{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{F}_p)$, where $(-)^{\mathrm{ab}}$ denotes the abelianization of (-). Then $(\Sigma$ -prc) is a grouptheoretical property. If $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$, then [T2, Corollary 1.7] implies that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -prc) group-theoretically. Moreover, if $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$ (resp. $\Sigma = \text{tame}$), by [T2, Theorem 1.9] (resp. [T4, Theorem 0.5]), (Σ -gnc) is a group-theoretical property.

Next, we prove (ii). Suppose that char(k) = 0. To verify the proposition, we may reduce immediately to the case where k is finite over the quotient field of $W(\mathbb{F}_p)$. Then the genera $g_{\overline{H}_1}$ and $g_{\overline{H}_2}$ are equal to the dimensions of the weight 0 parts of the Hodge-Tate decompositions of the abelianizations of the maximal pro-p quotients of \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 (cf. [Ta, Section 4, Remark]), respectively. Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. Let ℓ be a prime number distinct from p. Then the genera $g_{\overline{H}_1}$ and $g_{\overline{H}_2}$ are equal to 1/2 the dimensions of the Frobenius weight 1 parts of the abelianizations of the maximal pro- ℓ quotients of \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. This completes the proof of the proposition.

Remark 1.2.1. Let $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_{X_1}, \Delta_{X_2})$. The proposition means that we can determine whether $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc) (resp. (Σ -prc)) or not group-theoretically from Δ_{X_1} and Δ_{X_2} .

In the remainder of this section, let X be a hyperbolic curve of type (g_X, n_X) over \overline{k} . Write X^{cpt} for the smooth compactification of X over \overline{k} . We define a pointed smooth stable curve

$$X^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X^{\text{cpt}}, D_X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X^{\text{cpt}} \setminus X)$$

over \overline{k} . Here, X^{cpt} denotes the underlying curve of X^{\bullet} , and D_X denotes the set of marked points of X^{\bullet} . By choosing a suitable geometric point, we denote by $\pi_1(X)$ the étale fundamental group of X.

Let K_X be the function field of X. We define K_X^{Σ} to be the maximal pro- Σ (resp. the maximal tame if $\Sigma = \text{tame}$) Galois extension of K_X in a fixed separable closure of K_X , unramified over X (resp. unramified over X, and at most tamely ramified over D_X). Then we may identify the maximal pro- Σ quotient Δ_X of $\pi_1(X)$ (resp. the tame fundamental group of X if $\Sigma = \text{tame}$) with $\text{Gal}(K_X^{\Sigma}/K_X)$. We put

$$X^{\bullet,\Sigma} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X^{\Sigma}, D_{X^{\Sigma}}),$$

where X^{Σ} denotes the normalization of X^{cpt} in K_X^{Σ} , and $D_{X^{\Sigma}}$ denotes the inverse image of D_X in X^{Σ} . For each $e^{\Sigma} \in D_{X^{\Sigma}}$, we denote by $I_{e^{\Sigma}}$ the inertia subgroup of Δ_X associated to e^{Σ} (i.e., the stabilizer of e^{Σ}). Let C_{Δ_X} be a cofinal system of open subgroups of Δ_X . For each $H \in C_{\Delta_X}$, we write $X_H^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_H, D_{X_H})$ for the smooth pointed stable curve corresponding to H and $e_H \in D_{X_H}$ for the image of e^{Σ} in X_H^{\bullet} . Write $E_{C_{\Delta_X}}$ for the system $(e_H)_{H \in C_{\Delta_X}}$, and note that $E_{C_{\Delta_X}}$ admits a natural action of Δ_X . Then we may identify the inertia subgroup $I_{e^{\Sigma}}$ associated to e^{Σ} with the stabilizer of $E_{C_{\Delta_Y}}$.

Definition 1.3. Let $f^{\bullet}: Y^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y, D_Y) \to X^{\bullet}$ be a morphism of smooth pointed stable curves over k. We shall say that f^{\bullet} is a Galois tame covering (resp. Galois étale covering) if f^{\bullet} induces a Galois covering of underlying curves which is at most tamely ramified over D_X (resp. f^{\bullet} induces a Galois covering of underlying curves which is étale). Moreover, we put

$$\operatorname{Ram}_{f^{\bullet}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ e \in D_X \mid f^{\bullet} \text{ is ramified over } e \}.$$

In the remainder of this section, we suppose that $g_X \ge 2$, and that $n_X > 0$. We define

$$(\ell, d, f^{\bullet} : Y^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y, D_Y) \to X^{\bullet})$$

to be a triple associated to X satisfying the following conditions:

(a) ℓ, d are prime numbers distinct from each other and from p such that $\ell \equiv 1 \pmod{d}$; then all d^{th} roots of unity are contained in \mathbb{F}_{ℓ} ; Moreover, we assume that $\ell, d \in \Sigma$ if $\Sigma \neq \text{tame}$.

(b) $f^{\bullet}: Y^{\bullet} \to X^{\bullet}$ is a Galois **étale** covering (i.e., the morphism of underlying curves induced by f^{\bullet} is a Galois étale covering) over \overline{k} whose Galois group is equipped with an isomorphism with G_d , where $G_d \subseteq \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$ denotes the subgroup of d^{th} roots of unity.

Write $M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{ét}}$ and $M_{Y^{\bullet}}$ for $\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\text{ét}}(Y, \mathbb{F}_{\ell})$ and $\mathrm{Hom}(\Delta_{Y}, \mathbb{F}_{\ell})$, respectively, where Δ_{Y} denotes the maximal pro- Σ quotient of the étale fundamental group of $Y \setminus D_{Y}$ (resp. the tame fundamental group of $Y \setminus D_{Y}$ if $\Sigma =$ tame). Note that there is a natural injection

$$M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{\acute{e}t}} \hookrightarrow M_{Y^{\bullet}}$$

induced by the natural surjection $\Delta_Y \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_Y^{\text{ét}}$, where $\Delta_Y^{\text{ét}}$ denotes the étale fundamental group of Y. Then we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{\'et}} \to M_{Y^{\bullet}} \to M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{ra}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{coker}(M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{\'et}} \hookrightarrow M_{Y^{\bullet}}) \to 0$$

with a natural action of G_d .

Let

$$M_{Y^{\bullet},G_d}^{\operatorname{ra}} \subseteq M_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{ra}}$$

be the subset of elements on which G_d acts via the natural character $G_d \hookrightarrow \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$ induced by the inclusion $G_d \subseteq \mathbb{F}_{\ell}$ and

$$U_{Y^{\bullet}}^* \subseteq M_{Y^{\bullet}}$$

the subset of elements that map to nonzero elements of $M_{Y^{\bullet},G_d}^{\mathrm{ra}}$. For each $\alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^*$, write

$$g^{\bullet}_{\alpha}: Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y_{\alpha}, D_{Y_{\alpha}}) \to Y^{\bullet}$$

for the Galois tame covering over \overline{k} of degree ℓ corresponding to α . Then we obtain a map

 $\epsilon: U_{Y^{\bullet}}^* \to \mathbb{Z}, \ \alpha \mapsto \# D_{Y_{\alpha}},$

where #(-) denotes the cardinality of (-).

We define a subset of $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{*}$ to be

$$U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{ \alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^* \mid \# \mathrm{Ram}_{g_{\alpha}^{\bullet}} = d \} = \{ \alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^* \mid \epsilon(\alpha) = \ell(dn_X - d) + d \}.$$

For each $\alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$, since the image of α is contained in $M_{Y^{\bullet},G_d}^{\mathrm{ra}}$, we obtain that the action of G_d on the set $\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\alpha}^{\bullet}} \subseteq D_{Y^{\bullet}}$ is transitive. Thus, there exists a unique marked point e_{α} of X^{\bullet} such that $f^{\bullet}(y) = e_{\alpha}$ for each $y \in \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\alpha}^{\bullet}}$. Moreover, we define a pre-equivalence relation \sim on $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ as follows:

Let $\alpha, \beta \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$. Then $\alpha \sim \beta$ if, for each $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$ for which $\lambda \alpha + \mu \beta \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{*}$, we have $\lambda \alpha + \mu \beta \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$.

On the other hand, for each $e \in D_X$, we define

$$U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{ \alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} \mid g_{\alpha}^{\bullet} \text{ is ramified over } (f^{\bullet})^{-1}(e) \}$$

Then, for any two marked points $e, e' \in D_X$ distinct from each other, we have

$$U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}} \cap U_{Y^{\bullet},e'}^{\mathrm{mp}} = \emptyset.$$

Moreover, we have

$$U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} = \bigcup_{e \in D_X} U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}}.$$

Write (g_Y, n_Y) for the type of Y^{\bullet} . Then the structure of the maximal pro- ℓ quotients of tame fundamental groups implies that

$$\Delta_Y^{\mathrm{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{F}_{\ell} \cong \langle a_1, \dots, a_{g_Y}, b_1, \dots, b_{g_Y}, \{c_{e'}\}_{e' \in D_Y} \mid \prod_{i=1}^{g_Y} [a_i, b_i] \prod_{e' \in D_Y} c_{e'} = 1 \rangle^{\mathrm{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{F}_{\ell},$$

where $\{c_{e'}\}_{e'\in D_Y}$ denotes a set of generators of inertia subgroups associated to marked points. Next, let us explain the set $U_{Y^{\bullet,e}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ more precisely. Let $\alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet,e}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ and $e'' \in (f^{\bullet})^{-1}(e) \subseteq D_Y$. The construction of $U_{Y^{\bullet,e}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ implies that $\alpha(c_{e''}) = a$ for some $a \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$, that $\alpha(c_{\tau(e'')}) = \tau a$ for each $\tau \in G_d$, and that $\alpha(c_{e'}) = 0$ for each $e' \in D_Y \setminus (f^{\bullet})^{-1}(e)$. Note that

$$\alpha(\prod_{e'\in D_Y} c_{e'}) = a \sum_{\tau\in G_d} \tau = 0$$

holds in \mathbb{F}_{ℓ} .

Proposition 1.4. (i) The pre-equivalence relation \sim on $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\text{mp}}$ is an equivalence relation, and there exists a natural bijection

$$\vartheta: U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} / \sim \to D_X.$$

Moreover, let

$$(\ell^*, d^*, f^{\bullet, *}: Y^{\bullet, *} \to X^{\bullet})$$

be an arbitrary triple associated to X. Hence we obtain a resulting set $U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{mp}/\sim$ and a natural bijection

$$\vartheta^*: U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}} / \sim \to D_X.$$

Then there exists a natural bijection

$$U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim \cong U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$$

which is compatible with the bijections ϑ and ϑ^* (i.e., the set $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{mp}/\sim$ does not depend on the choices of ℓ, d , and the étale covering $f^{\bullet}: Y^{\bullet} \to X^{\bullet}$).

(ii) Write g_Y for the genus of Y^{\bullet} . We have, for each $e \in D_X$,

$$#U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}} = \ell^{2g_Y+1} - \ell^{2g_Y} \text{ and } U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} = n_X(\ell^{2g_Y+1} - \ell^{2g_Y}).$$

Proof. First, let us prove (i). Let $\beta, \gamma \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$. If $\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\beta}^{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\gamma}^{\bullet}}$, then, for each $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$ for which $\lambda\beta + \mu\gamma \neq 0$, we have $\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\lambda\beta+\mu\gamma}^{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\beta}^{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\gamma}^{\bullet}}$. Thus, $\beta \sim \gamma$. On the other hand, if $\beta \sim \gamma$, we have $\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\beta}^{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\gamma}^{\bullet}}$. Otherwise, we have $\#\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\beta+\gamma}^{\bullet}} = 2d$. Thus, $\beta \sim \gamma$ if and only if $\operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\beta}^{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\gamma}^{\bullet}}$. Then \sim is an equivalence relation on $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$. Let

$$\vartheta: U_{V^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} / \sim \to D_X$$

be a map defined by $\alpha \mapsto e_{\alpha}$. We prove that ϑ is a bijection. It is easy to see that ϑ is an injection. On the other hand, for each $e \in D_X$, the explanation of $U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ mentioned in front of the proposition implies that we may construct a connected Galois tame covering of $h^{\bullet}: Z^{\bullet} \to Y^{\bullet}$ such that the element corresponding to h^{\bullet} is contained in $U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$. Then ϑ is a surjection.

Next, we prove the "moreover" part. First, we suppose that $\ell \neq \ell^*$, and that $d \neq d^*$. Then there exists a natural bijection

$$U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim \cong U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$$

which compatible with the bijections ϑ and ϑ^* as follows. Let $\alpha \in U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ and $\alpha^* \in U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}$. Write $Y_{\alpha}^{\bullet} \to Y^{\bullet}$ and $Y_{\alpha^*}^{\bullet^*} \to Y^{\bullet,*}$ for the tame coverings corresponding to α and α^* , respectively. Let us consider

$$Y^{\bullet} \times_{X^{\bullet}} Y^{\bullet,*}.$$

Thus, we have a connected Galois tame covering $Y^{\bullet} \times_{X^{\bullet}} Y^{\bullet,*} \to X^{\bullet}$ of degree $dd^*\ell\ell^*$. Then it is easy to check that α and α^* correspond to same marked point if and only if the cardinality of the set of marked points of $Y^{\bullet} \times_{X^{\bullet}} Y^{\bullet,*}$ is equal to $dd^*(\ell\ell^*(n_X - 1) + 1)$. In general case, for any two given triples $(\ell, d, f^{\bullet} : Y^{\bullet} \to X^{\bullet})$ and $(\ell^*, d^*, f^{\bullet,*} : Y^{\bullet,*} \to X^{\bullet})$, we may choose a triple

$$(\ell^{**}, d^{**}, f^{\bullet, **} : Y^{\bullet, **} \to X^{\bullet})$$

associated to X such that $\ell^{**} \neq \ell$, $\ell^{**} \neq \ell^*$, $d^{**} \neq d$, and $d^{**} \neq d^*$. Hence we obtain a resulting set $U_{Y^{\bullet,**}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$ and a natural bijection $\vartheta^{**}: U_{Y^{\bullet,**}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim D_X$. Then we obtain two natural bijections $U_{Y^{\bullet,**}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$ and $U_{Y^{\bullet,**}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$. Thus, we have $U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$. This completes the proof of (i).

Next, let us prove (ii). Write $E_e \subseteq D_Y$ for the set $(f^{\bullet})^{-1}(e)$. Then $U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{mp}$ can be naturally regarded as a subset of $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y \setminus E_e, \mathbb{F}_\ell)$ via the natural open immersion $Y \setminus E_e \hookrightarrow$ Y. Write L_e for the \mathbb{F}_ℓ -vector space generated by $U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{mp}$ in $\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y \setminus E_e, \mathbb{F}_\ell)$. Then we have

$$U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}} = L_e \setminus \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y, \mathbb{F}_{\ell}).$$

Write H_e for the quotient $L_e/\mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y,\mathbb{F}_\ell)$. We have an exact sequence as follows:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y, \mathbb{F}_{\ell}) \to L_{e} \to H_{e} \to 0.$$

The explanation of $U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\mathrm{mp}}$ mentioned in front of the proposition implies that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}(H_e) = 1.$$

On the other hand, since $\dim_{\mathbb{F}_{\ell}}(\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\acute{e}t}(Y,\mathbb{F}_{\ell})) = 2g_{Y}$, we obtain

$$\# U_{Y^{\bullet},e}^{\rm mp} = \ell^{2g_Y + 1} - \ell^{2g_Y}$$

Thus, we have

$$#U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}} = n_X(\ell^{2g_Y+1} - \ell^{2g_Y}).$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 1.4.1. The proof of the "moreover" part of Proposition 1.4 (i) implies that, if the cardinality of the sets of marked points of smooth pointed stable curves can be reconstructed group-theoretically, then the bijection

$$U_{Y^{\bullet,*}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim \cong U_{Y^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim$$

can be determined group-theoretically.

2 The kernels of surjections of geometric fundamental groups

We maintain the notation introduced in Section 1. Let $\overline{X}_i^{\text{cpt}}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, be the smooth compactification of \overline{X}_i over \overline{k} . We define a pointed smooth stable curve over \overline{k} to be

$$\overline{X}_{i}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overline{X}_{i}^{\text{cpt}}, D_{\overline{X}_{i}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{X}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus \overline{X}_{i}), \ i \in \{1, 2\}.$$

Let $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_{X_1}, \Delta_{X_2})$. In this section, we suppose that $n_{X_2} > 0$, that $\overline{\Phi}$ is a surjective homomorphism, and that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc). First, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Suppose that $g_{X_2} \geq 2$. For each $i \in \{1,2\}$, we write $\Delta_{X_i}^{\text{ét}}$ for the étale fundamental group of $\overline{X}_i^{\text{cpt}}$ and $\Delta_{X_i}^{\text{ét},p'}$ for the maximal pro- $\Sigma \setminus \{p\}$ quotient of Δ_{X_i} (resp. maximal prime-to-p quotient of Δ_{X_i} if $\Sigma = tame$). Then $\overline{\Phi}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\Delta_{X_1}^{\text{\'et},p'} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Delta_{X_2}^{\text{\'et},p'}.$$

Proof. Let $N_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ be an arbitrary open subgroup such that the Galois covering $X_{N_2} \to \overline{X}_2$ corresponding to N_2 is étale, and that $(\#(\Delta_{X_2}/N_2), p) = 1$. Write $N_1 \subseteq \Delta_{X_1}$ for the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(N_2)$. Then the condition (Σ -gcn) and the Riemann-Hurwitz formula imply that the covering $X_{N_1} \to \overline{X}_1$ corresponding to N_1 is étale. Note that $\#(\Delta_{X_1}/N_1) = \#(\Delta_{X_2}/N_2)$ is prime to p. Thus, $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection

$$\Delta_{X_1}^{\text{\acute{e}t},p'} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}^{\text{\acute{e}t},p'}.$$

On the other hand, since $g_{X_1} = g_{X_2}$, $\Delta_{X_1}^{\acute{e}t,p'}$ is isomorphic to $\Delta_{X_2}^{\acute{e}t,p'}$ as abstract profinite groups. Moreover, we have $\Delta_{X_i}^{\acute{e}t,p'}$, $i \in \{1,2\}$, is topologically finitely generated. Then the surjection $\Delta_{X_1}^{\acute{e}t,p'} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}^{\acute{e}t,p'}$ obtained above is an isomorphism (cf. [FJ, Proposition 16.10.6]). This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

Suppose that $g_{X_2} \ge 2$. Let

$$(\ell, d, f_2^{\bullet} : Y_2^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y_2, D_{Y_2}) \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet})$$

be a triple associated to \overline{X}_2 (cf. Section 1). Lemma 2.1 implies that the triple (ℓ, d, f_2^{\bullet}) : $Y_2^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet}$) associated to \overline{X}_2 induces a triple

$$(\ell, d, f_1^{\bullet} : Y_1^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y_1, D_{Y_1}) \to \overline{X}_1^{\bullet})$$

associated to \overline{X}_1 , where the Galois étale covering f_1^{\bullet} is induced by f_2^{\bullet} via the isomorphism

 $\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{H}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{1}(\overline{X}_{2}^{\operatorname{cpt}}, \mathbb{F}_{d}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{H}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{1}(\overline{X}_{1}^{\operatorname{cpt}}, \mathbb{F}_{d}) \text{ induced by } \Delta_{X_{1}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},p'} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_{2}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t},p'}. \\ & \operatorname{Write} \Delta_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}} \subseteq \Delta_{X_{1}} \text{ and } \Delta_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}} \subseteq \Delta_{X_{2}} \text{ for open normal subgroups corresponding to } Y_{1}^{\bullet} \\ & \operatorname{and} Y_{2}^{\bullet}, \text{ respectively. Write } M_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}, M_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, M_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{ra}}, M_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}, \operatorname{and} M_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{ra}} \text{ for Hom}(\Delta_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}, \mathbb{F}_{\ell}), \\ & \operatorname{Write} X_{1}^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} Y_{1}^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} Y_{2}^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} Y_{2}^$ $\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{1},\mathbb{F}_{\ell}), M_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}/M_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}, \mathrm{Hom}(\Delta_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}},\mathbb{F}_{\ell}), \mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Y_{2},\mathbb{F}_{\ell}), \mathrm{and} \ M_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}/M_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}, \mathrm{respectively.}$ Write $\overline{\Phi}_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}$ for $\overline{\Phi}|_{\Delta_{Y_1}}$. Then $\overline{\Phi}_Y$ induces a homomorphism

$$\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{\mathrm{ab}}: M_{Y_2^{\bullet}} \to M_{Y_1^{\bullet}}$$

By replacing $\overline{\Phi}$ by $\overline{\Phi}_Y$, the claim implies that $\overline{\Phi}_Y$ induces the following commutative diagram:

where the vertical arrows on the right-hand side and the middle side are injections, and the vertical arrow on the left-hand side is an isomorphism. Write $U_{Y_1^{\bullet}}^*$ and $U_{Y_2^{\bullet}}^*$ for the subsets of $M_{Y_1^{\bullet}}$ and $M_{Y_2^{\bullet}}$ defined as in Section 1, respectively. Since the actions of G_d on the exact sequences are compatible with the morphisms appeared in the commutative diagram above, we have

$$\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{\mathrm{ab}}(U_{Y_2^{\bullet}}^*) \subseteq U_{Y_1^{\bullet}}^*.$$

Let $e_2 \in D_{\overline{X}_2}$, $\alpha_2 \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_2^{\bullet}, e_2}$, and $g_{\alpha_2}^{\bullet} : Y_{\alpha_2}^{\bullet} \to Y_2^{\bullet}$ the Galois tame covering of degree ℓ over \overline{k} corresponding to α_2 . Write

$$g_{\alpha_1}^{\bullet}: Y_{\alpha_1}^{\bullet} \to Y_1^{\bullet}$$

for the tame covering of degree ℓ over \overline{k} corresponding to $\alpha_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{ab}(\alpha_2)$. Write $g_{Y_{\alpha_1}}$ and $g_{Y_{\alpha_2}}$ for the genera of $Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha_1}$ and $Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha_2}$, respectively. Then the condition (Σ -gnc) and the Riemann-Hurwitz formula imply that

$$g_{Y_{\alpha_1}} - g_{Y_{\alpha_2}} = \frac{1}{2} (d - \# \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\alpha_1}^{\bullet}})(\ell - 1) = 0.$$

Then we have $d = \# \operatorname{Ram}_{g_{\alpha_1}^{\bullet}}$. This means that $\alpha_1 \in U_{Y_1^{\bullet}}^{\operatorname{mp}}$. Moreover, there exists $e_1 \in D_{\overline{X}_1}$ such that $\alpha_1 \in U_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1}^{\mathrm{mp}}$.

Let $\alpha'_2 \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_2^{\bullet}, e_2}$ distinct from α_2 . Since, for each $a\alpha_2 + b\alpha'_2 \neq 0$, $a, b \in \mathbb{F}_{\ell}^{\times}$, $a\alpha_2 + b\alpha'_2 \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_2^{\bullet}, e_2}$, we have $\overline{\Psi}^{\mathrm{ab}}_{Y, \ell}(a\alpha_2 + b\alpha'_2) \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1}$. Moreover, we have $\overline{\Psi}^{\mathrm{ab}}_{Y, \ell}(a\alpha_2 + b\alpha'_2) \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1}$. This implies that $\overline{\Psi}^{\mathrm{ab}}_{Y, \ell}(\alpha'_2) \in U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1}$. Thus, we obtain

$$\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{\mathrm{ab}}(U_{Y_2^{\bullet},e_2}^{\mathrm{mp}}) \subseteq U_{Y_1^{\bullet},e_1}^{\mathrm{mp}}$$

On the other hand, Proposition 1.4 (ii) implies that $\#U_{Y_1^{\bullet},e_1}^{\text{mp}} = \#U_{Y_2^{\bullet},e_2}^{\text{mp}}$. We have

$$\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{\mathrm{ab}}(U_{Y_2^{\bullet},e_2}^{\mathrm{mp}}) = U_{Y_1^{\bullet},e_1}^{\mathrm{mp}}.$$

Then Proposition 1.4 (i) implies that $\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{ab}$ induces an injection

$$\lambda_{\overline{\Phi},Y,\ell}: U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_2^{\bullet}}/ \sim \hookrightarrow U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_1^{\bullet}}/ \sim$$

On the other hand, let $(\ell^*, d^*, f_2^{*, \bullet} : Y_2^{*, \bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Y_2^*, D_{Y_2^*}) \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet})$ be an arbitrary triple associated to \overline{X}_2 . Then by similar arguments to the arguments given above imply that $\overline{\Psi}_{Y,\ell}^{ab}$ induces an injection

$$\lambda_{\overline{\Phi},Y^*,\ell^*}: U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_2^{*,\bullet}}/ \sim \hookrightarrow U^{\mathrm{mp}}_{Y_1^{*,\bullet}}/\sim.$$

Since $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc), we have $n_{\overline{H}_1} = n_{\overline{H}_2}$ for each open normal subgroup $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$, where \overline{H}_1 denotes the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$, and $n_{\overline{H}_i}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, denotes the cardinality of the marked points of the curves over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{H}_i . Then Remark 1.4.1 implies that the following commutative diagram holds:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} U_{Y_{2}^{\bullet,\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim & \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi},Y^{*},\ell^{*}}} & U_{Y_{1}^{\bullet,\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ U_{Y_{2}^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim & \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi},Y,\ell}} & U_{Y_{1}^{\bullet}}^{\mathrm{mp}}/\sim, \end{array}$$

where the vertical arrows are the bijection constructed in the proof of Proposition 1.4 (i). Moreover, Proposition 1.4 (i) implies that we may identify $D_{\overline{X}_i}$ with $U_{Y_i^{\bullet}}^{\text{mp}}/\sim$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Then we obtain the following result.

Lemma 2.2. Suppose that $g_{X_2} \geq 2$. Then the surjective $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a map

$$\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}: D_{\overline{X}_2} \hookrightarrow D_{\overline{X}_1}.$$

Moreover, $\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}$ is an injection.

Let $P_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ be an arbitrary open subgroup and $P_1 \subseteq \Delta_{X_1}$ the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(P_2)$ of P_2 . Write

$$Z_i^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (Z_i, D_{Z_i}) \ i \in \{1, 2\},$$

for the pointed smooth stable curves of over \overline{k} corresponding to P_i . The surjection $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection

$$\overline{\Phi}_Z \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\Phi}|_{P_1} : P_1 \twoheadrightarrow P_2$$

Then Lemma 2.2 implies an injective map

$$\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}: D_{Z_2} \hookrightarrow D_{Z_1}.$$

On the other hand, P_i , $i \in \{1,2\}$, determines a morphism $f_{P_i}^{\bullet}: Z_i^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_i^{\bullet}$ of smooth pointed stable curves over \overline{k} . Moreover, $f_{P_i}^{\bullet}$ induces a surjective map of the sets of marked points

$$\gamma_{f_{P_i}}: D_{Z_i} \twoheadrightarrow D_{\overline{X_i}}$$

of Z_i^{\bullet} and \overline{X}_i^{\bullet} . Furthermore, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that $g_{X_2} \geq 2$. Then the natural diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} D_{Z_2} & \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}} & D_{Z_1} \\ & & & & \\ \gamma_{f_{P_2}} & & & & \\ & & & \gamma_{f_{P_1}} \\ & & & \\ D_{\overline{X}_2} & \xrightarrow{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}} & D_{\overline{X}_1} \end{array}$$

is commutative.

Proof. Let $e_{Z_2} \in D_{Z_2}, e_{Z_1} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(e_{Z_2}) \in D_{Z_1}, e_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \gamma_{f_{P_2}}(e_{Z_2}) \in D_{\overline{X}_2}, e_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\gamma_{f_{P_1}} \circ D_{\overline{X}_2}) = 0$ $\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z})(e_{Z_2}) \in D_{\overline{X}_2}$, and $e'_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(e_2) \in D_{\overline{X}_1}$. Let us prove that $e_1 = e'_1$. Write S_{Z_1} and S_{Z_2} for the sets $(\gamma_{f_{P_1}})^{-1}(e'_1)$ and $(\gamma_{f_{P_2}})^{-1}(e_2)$, respectively. Note that $e_{Z_2} \in S_{Z_2}$. To verify $e_1 = e'_1$, it is sufficient to prove that $e_{Z_1} \in S_{Z_1}$

Let $(\ell, d, f_2^{\bullet} : Y_2^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet})$ be a triple associated to \overline{X}_2 such that $(\ell, \#(\Delta_{X_2}/P_2)) = 1$ and $(d, \#(\Delta_{X_2}/P_2)) = 1$. By Lemma 2.1, we obtain a triple

$$(\ell, d, f_1^{\bullet}: Y_1^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_1^{\bullet})$$

associated to \overline{X}_1 induced by $\overline{\Phi}$ and $(\ell, d, f_2^{\bullet} : Y_2^{\bullet} \to X_2^{\bullet})$. On the other hand, we have a triple

$$(\ell, d, g_2^{\bullet} : W_2^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Y_2^{\bullet} \times_{\overline{X}_2^{\bullet}} Z_2^{\bullet} \to Z_2^{\bullet})$$

associated to Z_2 . Again, by By Lemma 2.1, we obtain a triple

$$(\ell, d, g_1^{\bullet} : W_1^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Y_1^{\bullet} \times_{\overline{X}_1^{\bullet}} Z_1^{\bullet} \to Z_1^{\bullet})$$

associated to Z_1 induced by $\overline{\Phi}_Z$ and $(\ell, d, g_2^{\bullet} : W_2^{\bullet} \to Z_2^{\bullet})$. Let $\alpha_2 \in U_{Y_2^{\bullet}, e_2}^{\text{mp}}$, where $U_{(-)}^{\text{mp}}$ is defined as in Section 1. Then by similar arguments to the arguments given in the proof of Lemma 2.2 imply that α_2 induces an element

$$\alpha_1 \in U^{\rm mp}_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1'}$$

Write $Y_{\alpha_1}^{\bullet}$ and $Y_{\alpha_2}^{\bullet}$ for the smooth pointed stable curves over \overline{k} corresponding to α_1 and α_2 , respectively. We consider the connected Galois tame covering

$$Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha_2} \times_{\overline{X}^{\bullet}_2} Z^{\bullet}_2 \to W^{\bullet}_2$$

of degree ℓ over \overline{k} , and write β_2 for the element of $U_{W_2^{\bullet}}^*$ corresponding to this connected Galois tame covering, where $U_{(-)}^*$ is defined as in Section 1. Then we have

$$\beta_2 = \sum_{c_2 \in S_{Z_2}} t_{c_2} \beta_{c_2},$$

where $t_{c_2} \in (\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ and $\beta_{c_2} \in U_{W_2^{\bullet},c_2}^{\text{mp}}$. On the other hand, similar arguments to the arguments given in the proof of Lemma 2.2 imply that β_{c_2} induced an element $\beta_{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(c_2)} \in U_{W_1^{\bullet},\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(c_2)}^{\text{mp}}$. Then β_2 induces an element

$$\beta_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{c_2 \in S_{Z_2} \setminus \{e_{Z_2}\}} t_{c_2} \beta_{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(c_2)} + t_{e_{Z_2}} \beta_{\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(e_{Z_2})} \in U_{W_1}^{*}.$$

Note that since β_1 corresponds to the connected Galois tame covering $Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha_1} \times_{\overline{X}^{\bullet}_1} Z^{\bullet}_1 \to W^{\bullet}_1$, we have the composition of the connected Galois tame covering $Y^{\bullet}_{\alpha_1} \times_{\overline{X}^{\bullet}_1} Z^{\bullet}_1 \to W^{\bullet}_1$ and the Galois étale covering $g^{\bullet}_1 : W^{\bullet}_1 \to Z^{\bullet}_1$ is tamely ramified over S_{Z_2} . This means that $e_{Z_1} = \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}_Z}(e_{Z_2})$ is contained in S_{Z_1} . This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

Let $K_{\overline{X}_i}$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, be the function field of \overline{X}_i . We define $K_{\overline{X}_i}^{\Sigma}$ to be the maximal pro- Σ (resp. maximal tame if $\Sigma =$ tame) Galois extension of $K_{\overline{X}_i}$ in a fixed separable closure of $K_{\overline{X}_i}$, unramified over \overline{X}_i (resp. unramified over \overline{X}_i , and at most tamely ramified over $D_{\overline{X}_i}$). We put

$$\overline{X}_{i}^{\bullet,\Sigma} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overline{X}_{i}^{\Sigma}, D_{\overline{X}_{i}^{\Sigma}}), \ i \in \{1,2\},$$

where \overline{X}_i^{Σ} denotes the normalization of $\overline{X}_i^{\text{cpt}}$ in $K_{\overline{X}_i}^{\Sigma}$, and $D_{\overline{X}_i^{\Sigma}}$ denotes the inverse image of D_X in \overline{X}_i^{Σ} . We have the following proposition.

Proposition 2.4. Let $e_2^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_2^{\Sigma}}$, $e_2 \in D_{\overline{X}_2}$ the image of e_2^{Σ} , and $I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}$ the inertia subgroup of Δ_{X_2} associated to e_2^{Σ} . Then the following statements hold.

(i) There exists a point $e_1^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_1^{\Sigma}}$ such that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection

$$\overline{\Phi}|_{I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}} : I_{e_1^{\Sigma}} \twoheadrightarrow I_{e_2^{\Sigma}},$$

where I_{e_1} denotes the inertia subgroup associated to e_1^{Σ} .

(ii) Let $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}$, $e_{1,2}^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_{1}^{\Sigma}}$. Write $I_{e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}}$ and $I_{e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}}$ for the inertia subgroups of $\Delta_{X_{1}}$ associated to $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}$ and $e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}$, and write $e_{1,1}$ and $e_{1,2}$ for the images of $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}$ and $e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}$ in $D_{\overline{X}_{1}}$, respectively. Suppose that $\overline{\Phi}|_{I_{e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}}} : I_{e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}} \twoheadrightarrow I_{e_{2}^{\Sigma}}$ and $\overline{\Phi}|_{I_{e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}}} : I_{e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}} \twoheadrightarrow I_{e_{2}^{\Sigma}}$. Then we have $\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(e_{2}) = e_{1,1} = e_{1,2}$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.5 below, we may assume that $g_{X_2} \geq 2$. First, we prove (i). Let $C_{\Delta_{X_2}}$ be a cofinal system of open subgroups of Δ_{X_2} . For each $\overline{H}_2 \in C_{\Delta_{X_2}}$, we write $X_{\overline{H}_2}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{H}_2}, D_{X_{\overline{H}_2}})$ for the smooth pointed stable curve corresponding to \overline{H}_2 and $e_{\overline{H}_2} \in D_{X_{\overline{H}_2}}$ for the image of e_2^{Σ} in $X_{\overline{H}_2}^{\bullet}$. We denote by $E_{C_{\Delta_{X_2}}}$ the inverse system $(e_{\overline{H}_2})_{\overline{H}_2 \in C_{\Delta_{X_2}}}$. Then we may identify the inertia subgroup $I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}$ associated to e_2^{Σ} with the stabilizer of $E_{C_{\Delta_{X_2}}}$.

On the other hand, write \overline{H}_1 for $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$, $\overline{H}_2 \in C_{\Delta_{X_2}}$, and $X_{\overline{H}_1}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{H}_1}, D_{X_{\overline{H}_1}})$ for the smooth pointed stable curve corresponding to \overline{H}_1 . Then Lemma 2.2 implies that, for each $\overline{H}_2 \in C_{\Delta_{X_2}}$, we have an injection

$$\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}|_{\overline{H}_1}} : D_{X_{\overline{H}_2}} \hookrightarrow D_{X_{\overline{H}_1}}.$$

Write $L_{\overline{\Phi}}$ for the kernel of $\overline{\Phi} : \Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}$. We denote by $K_{\overline{X}_1}^{L_{\overline{\Phi}}} \subseteq K_{\overline{X}_1}^{\Sigma}$ the subfield corresponding to $L_{\overline{\Phi}}$. We put

$$X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}, D_{X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}}),$$

where $X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}$ denotes the normalization of $\overline{X}_{1}^{\text{cpt}}$ in $K_{\overline{X}_{1}}^{L_{\overline{\Phi}}}$, $D_{X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}}$ denotes the inverse image of $D_{\overline{X}_{1}}$ in $X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}$. Lemma 2.3 implies that the inverse system $(\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}|_{\overline{H}_{1}}}(e_{\overline{H}_{2}}))_{\overline{H}_{2}\in C_{\Delta_{X_{2}}}}$ determines a unique point $e_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}} \in D_{X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}}$. We choose a point $e_{1}^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_{1}^{\Sigma}}$ such that the image of e_{1}^{Σ} in $D_{X_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}}$ is $e_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}$. Write $I_{e_{1}^{\Sigma}}$ for the inertia subgroup of $\Delta_{X_{1}}$ associated to e_{1}^{Σ} and $I_{e_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}}$ for the inertia subgroup of $\Delta_{X_{1}}$ associated to $e_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}$. Note that the construction above implies that $I_{e_{1,L_{\overline{T}}}} \cong I_{e_{2}^{\Sigma}}$. Then $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection

$$\overline{\Phi}|_{I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}}: I_{e_1^{\Sigma}} \twoheadrightarrow I_{e_{1,L_{\overline{\Phi}}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}.$$

Next, we prove (ii). Write e_1 for the image of e_1^{Σ} in $D_{\overline{X}_1}$. Let $(\ell, d, f_2^{\bullet} : Y_2^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet})$ be a triple associated to \overline{X}_2 defined as in Section 1. Then $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a triple

$$(\ell, d, f_1^{\bullet} : Y_1^{\bullet} \to \overline{X}_1^{\bullet})$$

associated to \overline{X}_1 . Write

$$\Delta_{Y_1} \subseteq \Delta_{X_1}$$
 and $\Delta_{Y_2} \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$

for the normal open subgroups corresponding to Y_1^{\bullet} and Y_2^{\bullet} , respectively. Since f_2^{\bullet} and f_1^{\bullet} are étale, we have

$$I_{e_2^{\Sigma}} \subseteq \Delta_{Y_2}, \ I_{e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}} \subseteq \Delta_{Y_1}, \ \text{and} \ I_{e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}} \subseteq \Delta_{Y_1}.$$

Let $\alpha_2 \in U_{Y_2^{\bullet}, e_2}^{\text{mp}}$ be an element such that the composition of the natural injection $I_{e_2^{\Sigma}} \hookrightarrow \Delta_{Y_2}$ and the morphism $\Delta_{Y_2} \to \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$ corresponding to α_2 is nontrivial. Then, similar arguments to the arguments given in the proof of Lemma 2.2, we obtain an element $\alpha_1 \in U_{Y_1^{\bullet}, e_1}^{\text{mp}}$. Moreover, the composition of the natural injection $I_{e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}} \hookrightarrow \Delta_{Y_1}$ (resp. $I_{e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}} \hookrightarrow \Delta_{Y_1}$) and the morphism $\Delta_{Y_1} \to \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$ corresponding to α_1 is nontrivial. This means that $e_1 = e_{1,1} = e_{1,2}$. Moreover, the proof of (i) implies that $\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(e_2) = e_1 = e_{1,1} = e_{1,2}$. This completes the proof of the proposition.

Lemma 2.5. Suppose that Proposition 2.4 holds when $g_{X_2} \ge 2$. Then Proposition 2.4 holds when $g_{X_2} \ge 0$.

Proof. Suppose that $n_{X_2} = 0$. The definition of pointed stable curves implies that $g_{X_2} \ge 2$. Then the lemma is trivial. Suppose that $n_{X_2} \ne 0$. Then $n_{X_1} \ne 0$. We take $\ell', \ell'' \in \mathfrak{Primes}$ distinct from p and from each other. First, by replacing \overline{X}_1 and \overline{X}_2 by finite étale coverings of \overline{X}_1 and \overline{X}_2 with degree ℓ'' , respectively, we may assume that $n_{X_1} \ge 3$ and $n_{X_2} \ge 3$. We choose an open normal subgroup $Q_2 \subseteq \prod_{X_2}$ such that the tame covering

$$g_2^{\bullet}: X_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{Q}_2}, D_{X_{\overline{Q}_2}}) \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet}$$

over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{Q}_2 is totally ramified over $D_{\overline{X}_2}$, where

$$\overline{Q}_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Q_2 \cap \Delta_{X_2} = \operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{X_2} \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/\ell'\mathbb{Z}).$$

Write Q_1 for $\Phi^{-1}(Q_1)$, \overline{Q}_1 for $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{Q}_1)$, and

$$g_1^{\bullet}: X_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{Q}_1}, D_{X_{\overline{Q}_1}}) \to \overline{X}_1^{\bullet}$$

for the tame covering over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{Q}_1 . Note that the genera of $X_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet}$ and $X_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet}$ are ≥ 2 . Write $e_{\overline{Q}_2}$ for the image of e_2^{Σ} in $D_{X_{\overline{Q}_2}}$. By Lemma 2.2, we have $e_{\overline{Q}_1} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}|_{\overline{Q}_2}}(e_{\overline{Q}_2}) \in D_{\overline{X}_{Q_1}}$. Moreover, by Proposition 2.4 (i), there exists $e_1^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_1^{\Sigma}}$ such that the inertia subgroup $I_{e_{\overline{Q}_1}}$ of \overline{Q}_1 associated to e_1^{Σ} is equal to $I_{e_1^{\Sigma}} \cap \overline{Q}_1$, and that $\overline{\Phi}|_{I_{e_{\overline{Q}_1}}}$: $I_{e_{\overline{Q}_1}} \twoheadrightarrow I_{e_{\overline{Q}_2}}$, where $I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}$ denotes the inertia subgroup of Δ_{X_1} associated to e_1^{Σ} . Since $I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}$ is commensurable terminal ([M3, Lemma 1.3.7]), we have $\overline{\Phi}(I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}) \subseteq I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}$. On the other hand, by applying Proposition 2.4 (ii) to $X_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet}$ and $X_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet}$ implies that g_1^{\bullet} is totally ramified at $e_{\overline{Q}_1}$. Thus, $I_{e_{\overline{Q}_1}} \neq I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}$. This means that

$$\Phi(I_{e_1^{\Sigma}}) = I_{e_2^{\Sigma}}.$$

Let $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}, e_{1,2}^{\Sigma} \in D_{\overline{X}_1^{\Sigma}}$ satisfying Proposition 2.4 (i). Then we have the images of $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}$ and $e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}$ in $D_{X_{\overline{Q}_1}}$ are equal to $e_{\overline{Q}_1}$. Thus, the images of $e_{1,1}^{\Sigma}$ and $e_{1,2}^{\Sigma}$ in D_{X_1} are equal. This completes the proof of the lemma.

We set

$$D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D_{\overline{X}_1} \setminus \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(D_{\overline{X}_2}).$$

Next, we prove the main theorem of the present section.

Theorem 2.6. Let $L_{\overline{\Phi}}$ be the kernel of $\overline{\Phi} : \Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}$. For each $e \in D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ and each $e^{\Sigma} \in D_{X_1^{\Sigma}}$ over e, we denote by $I_{e^{\Sigma}}$ the inertia subgroup of Δ_{X_2} associated to e^{Σ} .

(i) Suppose that $\Sigma \neq \mathfrak{Primes}$ when $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. Then we have $I_{e^{\Sigma}} \subseteq L_{\overline{\Phi}}$.

(ii) Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$, that $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$, and that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -prc). Then we have $I_{e^{\Sigma}} \subseteq L_{\overline{\Phi}}$.

Proof. First, let us prove (i). We denote by $I \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ the image $\overline{\Phi}(I_{e^{\Sigma}})$. To verify (i), we may assume that I is not trivial. Then I is a pro-cyclic subgroup of Δ_{X_2} . Let \overline{H}_2 be any open subgroup of Δ_{X_2} and $\overline{H}_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$. Write $\overline{H}_1^{\text{ét}}$ and $\overline{H}_2^{\text{ét}}$ for the étale fundamental groups of the smooth compactifications of the curves over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. Then we obtain natural surjections

$$\overline{H}_1 \twoheadrightarrow \overline{H}_1^{\text{\'et}} \text{ and } \overline{H}_2 \twoheadrightarrow \overline{H}_2^{\text{\'et}}.$$

By Lemma 2.1, $\overline{\Phi}$ induces an isomorphism $\overline{H}_1^{\text{\acute{e}t},p'} \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{H}_2^{\text{\acute{e}t},p'}$. Moreover, since $I_{e^{\Sigma}} \cap \overline{H}_1$ is contained in the kernel of the surjection $\overline{H}_1 \twoheadrightarrow \overline{H}_1^{\text{\acute{e}t},p',\text{ab}}$, the natural morphism

$$I \cap \overline{H}_2 \hookrightarrow \overline{H}_2 \twoheadrightarrow \overline{H}_2^{\text{\'et},p',\text{all}}$$

is trivial. Thus, by applying [N3, Lemma 2.1.4], I is contained in an inertia subgroup $J \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$. By replacing \overline{X}_2 and \overline{X}_1 by the smooth pointed stable curves corresponding open subgroups $\overline{N}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ and $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{N}_2) \subseteq \Delta_{X_1}$, respectively, such that $\overline{N}_2 \cap J = \overline{N}_2 \cap I$, Proposition 2.4 implies that $e \in \lambda_{\Phi}(D_{\overline{X}_2})$. This contradicts to the assumption $e \in D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$. We complete the proof of (i).

Next, let us prove (ii). Let G be an arbitrary finite group and $\delta : \Delta_{X_2} \to G$ an arbitrary surjection. To verify (ii), we only need to prove that the image $(\delta \circ \overline{\Phi})(I_{e^{\Sigma}})$ is trivial. Write G_p for a Sylow p-subgroup of G. Then we obtain that the index of G_p is prime to p. Let $\overline{Q}_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \delta^{-1}(G_p)$ and $\overline{Q}_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{Q}_2)$. Write $f_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet} : X_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{Q}_1}, D_{X_{\overline{Q}_1}}) \to \overline{X}_1^{\bullet}$ and $f_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet} : X_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{Q}_2}, D_{X_{\overline{Q}_2}}) \to \overline{X}_2^{\bullet}$ for the coverings over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{Q}_1 and \overline{Q}_2 , respectively. Lemma 2.3 implies that

$$#(f_{\overline{Q}_2}^{\bullet})^{-1}(e_2) = #(f_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet})^{-1}(\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(e_2)), \ e_2 \in D_{\overline{X}_2}.$$

Since $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc), the Riemann-Hurwitz formula implies that

$$#(f^{\bullet}_{\overline{Q}_1})^{-1}(e_1) = [G:G_p], \ e_1 \in D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$$

This means that $f_{\overline{Q}_1}^{\bullet}$ is étale over $e_1 \in D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$. Then we have

$$(\delta \circ \overline{\Phi})(I_{e^{\Sigma}}) \subseteq G_p$$

Thus, we may assume that G is a p-group. Write \overline{P}_1 and \overline{P}_2 for the kernels of $\delta \circ \overline{\Phi}$ and δ , $X_{\overline{P}_1}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{P}_1}, D_{X_{\overline{P}_1}})$ and $X_{\overline{P}_2}^{\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (X_{\overline{P}_2}, D_{X_{\overline{P}_2}})$ for the smooth pointed stable curves over \overline{k} corresponding to \overline{P}_1 and \overline{P}_2 , respectively. For each $e_2 \in D_{X_2}$, Proposition 2.4 (ii) implies that the ramification indexes of points of $D_{X_{\overline{P}_2}}$ over e_2 are equal to the ramification indexes of points of $D_{X_{\overline{P}_1}}$ over $\lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(e_2)$. Since $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -prc), the Deuring-Shafarevich formula implies that the ramification indexes of points of $D_{X_{\overline{P}_1}}$ over e is 1. This means that $(\delta \circ \overline{\Phi})(I_{e^{\Sigma}})$ is trivial. We complete the proof of (ii).

3 Hopfian and weakly Hopfian properties

Let l be either a finite field of characteristic p > 0 or an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. Let U^{cpt} be a smooth curve over l of genus g_U , \bar{l} an algebraic closure of l, G_l the absolute Galois group $\text{Gal}(\bar{l}/l)$ of l, and $U \subseteq U^{\text{cpt}}$ an open subset. Then we obtain an exact sequence of étale fundamental groups

$$1 \to \pi_1(U \times_l \overline{l}, *) \to \pi_1(U, *) \stackrel{\mathrm{pr}_U}{\to} G_l \to 1,$$

where * is a suitable geometric point. Write Π_U for the étale fundamental group $\pi_1(U, *)$ and Δ_U for the geometric étale fundamental group $\pi_1(U \times_l \overline{l}, *)$.

Definition 3.1. Let Π be a profinite group. We shall say that Π is **Hopfian**, if every surjection $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi, \Pi)$ is an isomorphism.

Remark 3.1.1. Suppose that U is a projective curve, and that l is either a finite field or an algebraically closed field. Since Π_U is topologically finitely generated, Π_U is Hopfian (cf. [FJ, Proposition 16.10.6]).

Lemma 3.2. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$ be a surjection. Then $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_l}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$. In particular, Φ induces a surjection $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_U, \Delta_U)$.

Proof. The lemma follows from [T1, Proposition 3.3 (iii)].

Definition 3.3. We shall say that Π_U is **weakly Hopfian**, if every surjection $\Phi \in \text{Hom}_{\text{pro-gps}}^{\text{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$, such that the surjection $\overline{\Phi} \in \text{Hom}_{\text{pro-gps}}^{\text{open}}(\Delta_U, \Delta_U)$ induced by Φ induces surjections of inertia subgroups and higher ramification subgroups, is an isomorphism.

Remark 3.3.1. By the definitions, we see that

Hopfian \Rightarrow weakly Hopfian.

On the other hand, for a given surjection $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$, we do not know whether or not Φ induces surjections of inertia subgroups and higher ramification groups. Moreover, we may ask the following question

Question: When does "weakly Hopfian \Rightarrow Hopfian" hold?

For the question in Remark 3.3.1, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.4. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$ be a surjection and $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_U, \Delta_U)$ the surjection induced by Φ . Suppose that $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc). Then $\overline{\Phi}$ induces surjections of inertia subgroups and higher ramification groups.

Proof. We may assume that U is affine. By Proposition 2.4, we obtain that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces surjections of inertia subgroups. Then we only need to prove that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces surjections of higher ramification groups. Write $\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}}$ and \overline{U} for $U^{\text{cpt}} \times_l \overline{l}$ and $U \times_l \overline{l}$, respectively. Let e be a closed point of $\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus \overline{U}$ and I the subgroup of Δ_U generated by the inertia subgroups associated to the inverse images of $e', e' \in \overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus (\overline{U} \cup \{e\})$, in the universal covering. Then by applying Proposition 2.4, we have that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection

$$\overline{\Phi}_{I,e}: \Delta_U/I \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_U/I.$$

Note that Δ_U/I is the étale fundamental group of $\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus (\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus (\overline{U} \cup \{e\}))$. Thus, by replacing $\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}}$, Δ_U , and $\overline{\Phi}$ by $\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus (\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus (\overline{U} \cup \{e\}))$, Δ_U/I , and $\overline{\Phi}_{I,e}$, respectively, we may assume that $\#(\overline{U}^{\text{cpt}} \setminus \overline{U}) = 1$.

Let I_1 be an inertia subgroup associated to the unique cusp. Write I_2 for $\overline{\Phi}(I_1)$. Note that I_2 is also an inertia subgroup of Π_U . Then I_1 and I_2 carry the upper filtration $\{I_1^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$ and $\{I_2^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$, respectively. For each finite quotient $I_2 \twoheadrightarrow J$, $\{I_1^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$ and the natural surjection $I_1 \twoheadrightarrow I_2 \twoheadrightarrow J$ (resp. $\{I_2^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$ and the surjection $I_2 \twoheadrightarrow J$) induces an upper filtration $\{J_1^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{> 0}}$ (resp. $\{J_2^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{> 0}}$) on J. Thus, we obtain two lower filtrations

$${J_{1,s}}_{s\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$$
 and ${J_{2,s}}_{s\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$

on J induced by $\{J_1^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$ and $\{J_2^r\}_{r\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$, respectively. To verify that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces a surjection $I_1^r \to I_2^r$ for each $r \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, we only need to prove that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces an isomorphism $J_1^r \xrightarrow{\sim} J_2^r$ for each $r \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$; moreover, this is equivalent to prove that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces an isomorphism $J_{1,s} \xrightarrow{\sim} J_{2,s}$ for each $r \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$, or that the Artin character of J determined by the lower filtration $\{J_{1,s}\}_{s\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$ is equal to the Artin character of J determined by the lower filtration $\{J_{2,s}\}_{s\in\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}}$.

Let \overline{H}_2 be an arbitrary open normal subgroup of Δ_U , \overline{H}_1 the inverse image $\overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_1)$, $G_{\overline{H}}$ the quotient Δ_U/\overline{H}_2 , and $J_{\overline{H}}$ the image of I_2 in $G_{\overline{H}}$. Write $\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_1}^{\text{cpt}}$ and $\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_2}^{\text{cpt}}$ for the smooth compactifications of the curves corresponding to \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. We denote by $\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},1}} : J_{\overline{H}} \to \mathbb{Z}$ and $\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},2}} : J_{\overline{H}} \to \mathbb{Z}$ the Artin character induced by the natural surjection $I_1 \twoheadrightarrow I_2 \twoheadrightarrow J_{\overline{H}}$ and the surjection $I_2 \twoheadrightarrow J_{\overline{H}}$, respectively. Let $\ell \neq p$ be a prime number. Then the Lefschetz trace formula induces the following formulas for characters (cf. [S, Chapter VI §4 Corollary]):

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{J_{\overline{H}}}^{G_{\overline{H}}}(\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},1}}) = (2 - 2g_U)r_{G_{\overline{H}}} - 2 \cdot u_{G_{\overline{H}}} + h_{\ell,\overline{H}_1}$$

and

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{J_H}^{G_H}(\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},2}}) = (2 - 2g_U)r_{G_{\overline{H}}} - 2 \cdot u_{G_{\overline{H}}} + h_{\ell,\overline{H}_2}$$

where $r_{G_{\overline{H}}}$ denotes the regular representation of $G_{\overline{H}}$, $u_{G_{\overline{H}}}$ denotes the unit representation of $G_{\overline{H}}$, and h_{ℓ,\overline{H}_1} (resp. h_{ℓ,\overline{H}_2}) denotes the character of the $G_{\overline{H}}$ -module $\pi_1(\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_1}^{\text{cpt}})^{\text{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ (resp. $\pi_1(\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_2}^{\text{cpt}})^{\text{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$) whose $G_{\overline{H}}$ -module structure coming from the conjugate action of Δ_U on \overline{H}_1 (resp. \overline{H}_2). Since $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -gnc), Lemma 2.1 implies that $\overline{\Phi}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\pi_1(\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_1}^{\mathrm{cpt}})^{\mathrm{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_\ell \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_1(\overline{U}_{\overline{H}_2}^{\mathrm{cpt}})^{\mathrm{ab}} \otimes \mathbb{Z}_\ell$$

as $G_{\overline{H}}$ -modules. This implies that $h_{\ell,\overline{H}_1} = h_{\ell,\overline{H}_2}$. Thus, we obtain

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{J_{\overline{H}}}^{G_{\overline{H}}}(\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},1}}) = \operatorname{Ind}_{J_{\overline{H}}}^{G_{\overline{H}}}(\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},2}}).$$

Moreover, similar arguments to the arguments given in the proof of [T2, Theorem 2.7] imply that

$$\operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},1}} = \operatorname{Ar}_{J_{\overline{H},2}}.$$

This completes the proof of the proposition.

In [T3, Section 6], Tamagawa posed two conjectures concerning Hopfian and weakly Hopfian properties of fundamental groups of curves over algebraically closed fields of characteristic p > 0 as follows:

Conjecture 3.5. Suppose that l is an algebraically closed field, and that U is affine. Write $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ for the algebraic closure of \mathbb{F}_p in l, and td(l) for the transcendence degree of lover $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$. Then Π_U is Hopfian if and only if $td(l) < \aleph_0$, where \aleph_0 denotes the countable infinite cardinality.

Conjecture 3.6. Suppose that l is an algebraically closed field, and that U is affine. Write $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ for the algebraic closure of \mathbb{F}_p in l, and td(l) for the transcendence degree of l over $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$. Then Π_U is weakly Hopfian if and only if $td(l) < \aleph_0$, where \aleph_0 denotes the countable infinite cardinality.

Tamagawa proved that, if Π_U is either Hopfian or weakly Hopfian, then $td(l) < \aleph_0$ (i.e., the "only if" parts of Conjecture 3.5 and Conjecture 3.6). Moreover, by the definitions of Hopfian and weakly Hopfian, Conjecture 3.5 implies Conjecture 3.6. For the "if" part of Conjecture 3.5 and Conjecture 3.6, no results are known even when $l = \overline{\mathbb{F}}_p$ and $U = \mathbb{A}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_p}^1$. In fact, we don't know any examples of affine curves in positive characteristic whose étale fundamental groups are Hopfian even when $l = \mathbb{F}_p$ and $U = \mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{F}_p}^1$. On the other hand, we can prove that, if U is a curve over a finite field l, then Π_U is weakly Hopfian (see Proposition 3.8 below).

Let V be an arbitrary separated and connected scheme of finite type over Spec l, V^{cpt} a Nagata compactification of V over l, and B an effective Cartier divisor on V^{cpt} whose support is contained in $V^{\text{cpt}} \setminus V$. We denote by Π_V^B the étale fundamental group with restricted ramification bounded by B (cf. [H, Definition 2.4]). Then we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.7. Suppose that l is a finite field. Then Π_V^B is Hopfian.

Proof. Let $\Phi^B \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi^B_V, \Pi^B_V)$ be an arbitrary surjection. Let G be an arbitrary finite group and $\delta : \Pi^B_V \twoheadrightarrow G$ an arbitrary surjection. To verify the proposition, we only need to prove that there exists a surjection $\gamma : \Pi^B_V \twoheadrightarrow G$ such that $\delta = \gamma \circ \Phi$. We set

$$S_{\#G} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ H \subseteq \Pi_V^B \mid \#(\Pi_V^B/H) \le \#G \}.$$

Note that all the étale coverings induced by H is of ramification bounded by B (cf. [H, Definition 2.2]). Moreover, by [H, Theorem 1.2], $S_{\#G}$ is a finite set. This means that Π_V^B is small (cf. [H, Definition 3.1]). Then the proposition follows from [FJ, Proposition 16.10.6].

Proposition 3.8. Suppose that l is a finite field. Then Π_V is weakly Hopfian.

Proof. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_V, \Pi_V)$ be an arbitrary surjection such that the surjection $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_V, \Delta_V)$ induced by Φ induces surjections of inertia subgroups and higher ramification subgroups. Let G' be an arbitrary finite group, $\delta' : \Pi_V \twoheadrightarrow G'$ a surjection, and $V_{\delta'} \to V$ the Galois étale covering of degree #G' induced by δ' . To verify the proposition, we only need to prove that there exists a surjection $\gamma' : \Pi_V \twoheadrightarrow G'$ such that $\delta' = \gamma' \circ \Phi$. We see that there exists an effective divisor $B' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{v' \in V^{\operatorname{cpt}} \setminus V} m_{v'}v'$ on V^{cpt} which satisfies that the Galois étale covering $V_{\delta'} \to V$ is of ramification bounded by B'. Then there exist surjective morphisms $\nu : \Pi_V \twoheadrightarrow \Pi_V^{B'}$ and $\delta_{B'} : \Pi_V^{B'} \twoheadrightarrow G'$ such that $\delta' = \delta_{B'} \circ \nu$, where $\Pi_V^{B'}$ denotes the étale fundamental group with restricted ramification bounded by B'.

Moreover, since $\overline{\Phi}$ induces surjections of inertia subgroups and higher ramification subgroups, we obtain a surjection $\Phi^{B'} : \Pi_V^{B'} \twoheadrightarrow \Pi_V^{B'}$ induced by Φ . Then we have the following commutative diagram



Since $\Pi_V^{B'}$ is Hopfian (cf. Proposition 3.7), $\Phi^{B'}$ is an isomorphism. Thus, we may define

$$\gamma' \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \delta_{B'} \circ (\Phi^{B'})^{-1} \circ \nu$$

This completes the proof of the proposition.

The main theorem of the present section is as follows.

Theorem 3.9. Let $\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_U, \Pi_U)$ be a surjection. Suppose that the surjection $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_U, \Delta_U)$ induced by Φ satisfies (Σ -gnc). Then Φ is an isomorphism.

Proof. The theorem follows from Proposition 3.4 and Proposition 3.8.

4 Group-theoretic characterizations of almost open immersions

We maintain the notation introduced in Section 1 and Section 2.

Definition 4.1. Let $f \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ be a separable k-morphism. We shall say that $f: X_1 \to X_2$ is **separable** Σ -almost open immersion if f is a composition of an open immersion and a finite étale morphism such that the Galois group of the Galois closure of the finite étale morphism is a finite quotient of Π_{X_2} . Note that the open immersion and the finite étale morphism are unique.

Suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. Let $\phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$. We shall say that $\phi : X_1 \to X_2$ is a Σ -almost open immersion if ϕ can be represented by the following k-morphisms

$$X_1 \cong_k Y(m_1) \leftarrow Y \to Y(m_2) \to X_2$$

such that $Y(m_2) \to X_2$ is a separable Σ -almost open immersion, where $Y(m_1)$ and $Y(m_2)$ denote the m_1^{th} -Frobenius twist and m_2^{th} -Frobenius twist of Y, respectively, and \cong_k is a k-isomorphism.

Remark 4.1.1. Let $f: X_1 \to X_2$ be a separable morphism over $k, K_{X_i}, i \in \{1, 2\}$, the function field of X_i , and X_2^{sep} the normalization of X_2 in K_{X_1} . Then f is a separable Σ -almost open immersion if and only if the natural finite morphism of $X_2^{\text{sep}} \to X_2$ is étale such that the Galois closure of $X_2^{\text{sep}} \to X_2$ is a finite quotient of Π_{X_2} , and the natural morphism $X_1 \to X_2^{\text{sep}}$ induced by f is an open immersion. On the other hand, if X_1 and X_2 are projective, then f is a separable Σ -almost open immersion if and only if f is a finite étale morphism.

We define

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}^{\Sigma\text{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$$

to be the set of separable Σ -almost open immersions if char(k) = 0 and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2)$$

if char(k) = p to be the set of Σ -almost open immersions. On the other hand, we put

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2}) \mid \overline{\Phi} \text{ satisfies } (\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc})\},\$$

where $\overline{\Phi} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{pro-gps}}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Delta_{X_1}, \Delta_{X_2})$ denotes the morphism induced by Φ . Note that, by Proposition 1.2, $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ is a purely group-theoretic set. The natural maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_1}^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

if char(k) = 0 and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

if char(k) = p induce the following natural maps:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_{1}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_{k}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_{1},X_{2})\to\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{1}},\Pi_{X_{2}})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}})$$

and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

which fit into the following commutative diagrams:

and

respectively, where all the vertical arrows are injections. Next, let us start to prove our main theorems.

Theorem 4.2. Suppose that $\Sigma \neq \mathfrak{Primes}$ when char(k) = p. Then the natural maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\pi_{1}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}:\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_{k}}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_{1},X_{2})\xrightarrow{\sim}\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{k}}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{1}},\Pi_{X_{2}})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_{2}})$$

 $if \operatorname{char}(k) = 0$ and

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} \operatorname{-} \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

if char(k) = p are bijections.

Proof. Frist, let us prove the theorem when $\operatorname{char}(k) = p$. Let us prove that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}$ is a surjection. Let

$$\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2}).$$

To verify the surjectivity, it is sufficient to prove that the image of Φ in

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

is induced by an almost immersion of X_1 and X_2 . Moreover, Φ is a composite of an open surjection and an open injection. Since any open injection is induced by a finite étale covering of X_2 , to verify the surjectivity, we may assume that Φ is a surjection. Note that $(\Sigma$ -gnc) implies that $g \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} g_{X_1} = g_{X_2}$.

Let $\Sigma_3 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ be a finite set which contains Σ_1 (resp. $\Sigma_3 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{p\}$ if $\Sigma = \text{tame}$) and $\Lambda \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_3$. Then, for each $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we obtain a surjection

$$\Delta_{X_i} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i}^{\Lambda}$$

where $\Delta_{X_i}^{\Lambda}$ denotes the maximal pro- Λ quotient of Δ_{X_i} . We denote by

$$\Pi_{X_i}^{\Lambda} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Pi_{X_i} / (\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{X_i} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_i}^{\Lambda}))$$

for each $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Then the surjection Φ induces the following commutative diagram:

We define a pointed smooth curve over \overline{k} to be

$$\overline{X}_1^{*,\bullet} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} (\overline{X}_1^{\mathrm{cpt}}, D_{\overline{X}_1^*} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(D_{\overline{X}_2})).$$

Let X_1^{cpt} be the smooth compactification of X_1 over k and $D_{X_1^*}$ the image of $D_{\overline{X}_1^*}$ in X_1^{cpt} . We put

$$X_1^* \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} X_1^{\mathrm{cpt}} \setminus D_{X_1^*}.$$

Note that X_1^* is a hyperbolic curve of type (g, n_{X_2}) over k. Write $\Delta_{X_1^*}$ for the maximal pro- Σ quotient of $\pi_1(X_1^* \times_k \overline{k})$, $\Delta_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda}$ for the maximal pro- Λ quotient of $\Delta_{X_1^*}$, $\Pi_{X_1^*}$ for $\pi_1(X_1^*)/(\operatorname{Ker}(\pi_1(X_1^* \times_k \overline{k}) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_1^*}))$, and $\Pi_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda}$ for $\Pi_{X_1^*}/(\operatorname{Ker}(\Delta_{X_1^*}) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda}))$. Since X_1 is an open subcurve of X_1^* , we have a natural surjection $\Pi_{X_1} \to \Pi_{X_1^*}$.

Write $D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ for $D_{\overline{X}_1} \setminus \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(D_{\overline{X}_2})$, and write $E \subseteq \Delta_{X_1}$ for the subgroup generated by the inertia subgroups of Δ_{X_1} associated the inverse images of the elements of $D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ in $D_{\overline{X}_1^{\Sigma}}$. Then the kernels of $\Pi_{X_1} \to \Pi_{X_1^*}$ and $\Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_1^*}$ are equal to E. Moreover, Theorem 2.6 (i) implies that Φ induces the following commutative diagram:



where all the vertical arrows are surjections. Thus, to verify the surjectivity of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}$ - π_1^{Σ -gnc}, it is sufficient to prove that the image of Φ^* in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1^*}, \Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$ is induced by an element of $\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1^*, X_2)$.

On the other hand, Φ^* induces the following commutative diagram:

where all the vertical arrows are surjections. Since X_1^* and X_2 are hyperbolic curves of type (g, n_{X_2}) , and $p \notin \Lambda$, we obtain that $\overline{\Phi}^{*,\Lambda}$ is an isomorphism. Thus, $\Phi^{*,\Lambda}$ is also an isomorphism. Then Theorem 1.1 implies that the image of $\Phi^{*,\Lambda}$ in $\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda},\Pi_{X_2}^{\Lambda})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2}^{\Lambda})$ is induced by an isomorphism of $\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1^*, X_2)$. Since Δ_{X_1} and Δ_{X_2} are topologically finitely generated, the surjection Φ is an isomorphism. Then Φ^* is an isomorphism. Again, by applying Theorem 1.1, we obtain that the image of Φ^* in

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1^*}, \Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

is induced by an isomorphism of $\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1^*, X_2)$. Next, let us prove $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma-\operatorname{gnc}}$ is an injection. Let

$$\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\text{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2)$$

such that $[\Phi'] \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\phi_1) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\phi_2)$. We may assume that ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are separable k-morphisms. Note that, if ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are finite étale morphisms, then we obtain immediately $\phi_1 = \phi_2$. Since ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are compositions of a unique open immersion and a unique finite étale morphism, to verify the injectivity, we may assume that ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are open immersions. Let $\Phi' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2})$ such that the image of Φ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$ is $[\Phi']$. Then the kernel of Φ' is generated by the inertia subgroups associated to the inverse images of the elements of $D_{\overline{X}_1\setminus\overline{X}_2}$ in $D_{\overline{X}_1}^{\Sigma}$. Then the injectivity follows immediately from [T4, Lemma 5.1] or [M5, Proposition 1.2].

On the other hand, suppose that $\operatorname{char}(k) = 0$. By replacing Λ by Σ , similar arguments to the arguments given in the proof of the case where k is a finite field imply that $\operatorname{Hom}-\pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}$ is a bijection. This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Finally, we treat the case where char(k) = p and $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$.

Theorem 4.3. Suppose that char(k) = p and $\Sigma = \mathfrak{Primes}$. Then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}} : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\operatorname{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}, \Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2}) / \operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$$

is a bijection.

Proof. First, let us prove that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}$ is a surjection. Let

$$\Phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1},\Pi_{X_2}).$$

To verify the theorem, we may assume that Φ is a surjection. Write $\overline{\Phi} : \Delta_{X_1} \to \Delta_{X_2}$ for the surjection induced by Φ . We have the following claim.

Claim: The surjection $\overline{\Phi}$ satisfies (Σ -prc).

Let us prove the claim. For each $\overline{H}_2 \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ open normal subgroup, let $H_2 \subseteq \Pi_{X_2}$ be an open normal subgroup that $H_2 \cap \Delta_{X_2} = \overline{H}_2$. Write $G_{k'}$ for the image of H_2 in G_k , H_1 for $\Phi^{-1}(H_2)$, and X_{H_1} and X_{H_2} for the curve corresponding to H_1 and H_2 , respectively. Note that $H_1 \cap \Delta_{X_1} = \overline{\Phi}^{-1}(\overline{H}_2)$, and $\overline{\Phi}|_{H_1} : H_1 \twoheadrightarrow H_2$ satisfies (Σ -gnc).

Let $\Omega \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \{p\}$. Write \overline{H}_1^{Ω} and \overline{H}_2^{Ω} for the maximal pro- Ω quotients of \overline{H}_1 and \overline{H}_2 , respectively. We denote by $\Pi_{X_{H_1}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H_1/\text{Ker}(\overline{H}_1 \twoheadrightarrow H_1^{\Omega})$ and denote by $\Pi_{X_{H_2}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H_2/\text{Ker}(\overline{H}_2 \twoheadrightarrow H_2^{\Omega})$. Then Φ induces a surjection $\Phi_{X_H} : \Pi_{X_{H_1}} \twoheadrightarrow \Pi_{X_{H_2}}$. Moreover, we have $\Phi_{X_H} \in \text{Hom}_{G_{k'}}^{\text{open},\Omega\text{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_{H_1}},\Pi_{X_{H_2}})$. Thus, Theorem 4.2 implies that X_{H_1} is isomorphic to an open subset of X_{H_2} as schemes. Then we obtain that the *p*-rank of X_{H_1} is equal to the *p*-rank of X_{H_2} . This completes the proof of the claim.

We define a pointed smooth curve over \overline{k} to be

$$\overline{X}_1^{*,\bullet} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overline{X}_1^{\text{cpt}}, D_{\overline{X}_1^*} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(D_{\overline{X}_2})).$$

Let X_1^{cpt} be the smooth compactification of X_1 over k and $D_{X_1^*}$ the image of $D_{\overline{X}_1^*}$ in X_1^{cpt} . We set

$$X_1^* \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1^{\text{cpt}} \setminus D_{X_1^*}.$$

Note that X_1^* is a hyperbolic curve of type (g, n_{X_2}) over k. Write $\Pi_{X_1^*}$ for the étale fundamental group $\pi_1(X_1^*)$ and $\Delta_{X_1^*}$ for the geometric étale fundamental group $\pi_1(X_1^* \times_k \overline{k})$. Since X_1 is an open subcurve of X_1^* , we have a natural surjection $\Pi_{X_1} \to \Pi_{X_1^*}$.

Write $D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ for $D_{\overline{X}_1} \setminus \lambda_{\overline{\Phi}}(D_{\overline{X}_2})$, and write $E \subseteq \Delta_{X_2}$ for the subgroup generated by the inertia subgroups of Δ_{X_2} associated the inverse images of the elements of $D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ in $D_{\overline{X}_1^{\Sigma}}$. Then the kernels of $\Pi_{X_1} \to \Pi_{X_1^*}$ and $\Delta_{X_1} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_1^*}$ are equal to E. Moreover, Theorem 2.6 (ii) implies that Φ induces the following commutative diagram:

where all the vertical arrows are surjections. Thus, to verify the surjectivity of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}$ it is sufficient to prove that the image of Φ^* in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1^*}, \Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$ is induced by an element of $\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1^*, X_2)$. Note that $\overline{\Phi}^*$ satisfies ($\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}$).

Let $\Sigma_3 \subseteq \mathfrak{Primes}$ be a finite set which contains $\{p\}$ and $\Lambda \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{Primes} \setminus \Sigma_3$. We write $\Delta_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda}$ and $\Delta_{X_2}^{\Lambda}$ for the maximal pro- Λ quotients of $\Delta_{X_1^*}$ and Δ_{X_2} , $\Pi_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda}$ and $\Pi_{X_2}^{\Lambda}$ for $\Pi_{X_1^*}/\text{Ker}(\Delta_{X_1^*} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_1^*}^{\Lambda})$ and $\Pi_{X_2}/\text{Ker}(\Delta_{X_2} \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{X_2}^{\Lambda})$, respectively. We obtain that Φ^* induces the following commutative diagram:

where all the vertical arrows are surjections. Then Theorem 4.2 implies that X_1^* is isomorphic to X_2 in \mathcal{FC}_k . We obtain that $\Pi_{X_1^*}$ is isomorphic to Π_{X_2} as abstract profinite groups. Thus, by Theorem 3.9, we obtain that

$$\Phi^* \in \operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1^*}, \Pi_{X_2}).$$

Moreover, Theorem 1.1 implies that the image of Φ^* in $\operatorname{Isom}_{G_k}(\Pi_{X_1^*}, \Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$ is induced by an isomorphism of $\operatorname{Isom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}(X_1^*, X_2)$.

Next, let us prove $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} - \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}$ is an injection. Let

$$\phi_1, \phi_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k}^{\Sigma\text{-al-op-im}}(X_1, X_2)$$

such that $[\Phi'] \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\phi_1) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{FC}_k} \pi_1^{\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\phi_2)$. We may assume that ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are separable k-morphisms. Note that, if ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are finite étale morphisms, then we

obtain immediately $\phi_1 = \phi_2$. Since ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are compositions of a unique open immersion and a unique finite étale morphism, to verify the injectivity, we may assume that ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are open immersions. Let $\Phi' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$ such that the image of Φ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{G_k}^{\operatorname{open},\Sigma\operatorname{-gnc}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})/\operatorname{Inn}(\Delta_{X_2})$ is $[\Phi']$. Then the kernel of Φ' is generated by the inertia subgroups associated to the inverse images of the elements of $D_{\overline{X}_1 \setminus \overline{X}_2}$ in $D_{\overline{X}_1}^{\Sigma}$. Then the injectivity follows immediately from [T2, Corollary 2.2]. This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Remark 4.3.1. Theorem 4.2 and Theorem 4.3 can be regarded as a certain Hom-version of the Grothendieck conjecture for almost open immersion of curves.

Remark 4.3.2. Finally, let us come back to Hom-version of positive characteristic. Note that, for any ϕ which is either an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}_k}(X_1, X_2)$ or an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{F}_k}(X_1, X_2)$, there exists an open sub-curve $U_i \subseteq X_i$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$ such that the restriction of ϕ on U_1 is an almost open immersion. Write Δ_{U_i} for the maximal pro- Σ quotient of the geometric tame fundamental group $\pi_1^t(U_i \times_k \overline{k}), \Pi_{U_i}$ for $\pi^t(U_i)/(\operatorname{Ker}(\pi^t(U_i) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{U_i}))$. Let Φ be an arbitrary element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{G}_k}^{\operatorname{open}}(\Pi_{X_1}, \Pi_{X_2})$. If one can develop a suitable theory of anabelian cuspidalizations for surjections (i.e., group-theoretic reconstructions of the fundamental groups of open sub-curves of given curves from the fundamental group of the given curves; moreover, the cases of abelian and pro- ℓ cuspidalizations for isomorphisms have already been established by Mochizuki (cf. [M4])), then one may obtain a homomorphism $\Phi^{\operatorname{cusp}}$: $\Pi_{U'_1} \to \Pi_{U'_2}$ group-theoretically from Φ such that the condition (Σ -gnc) is satisfied. Here, U'_i , $i \in \{1,2\}$, is an open sub-curve of X_i , and $\Pi_{U'_i}$ is $\pi_1(U'_i)/(\operatorname{Ker}(\pi_1(U'_i \times_k \overline{k}) \twoheadrightarrow \Delta_{U'_i})))$, where $\Delta_{U'_i}$ denotes the maximal pro- Σ quotient of the geometric étale fundamental group $\pi_1(U'_i \times_k \overline{k})$. Then Hom-version of positive characteristic can be deduced from Theorem 4.2 and Theorem 4.3.

References

- [FJ] M. D. Fried, M. Jarden, Field arithmetic. Third edition. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics 11. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008.
- [H] T. Hiranouchi, A Hermite-Minkowski type theorem of varieties over finite fields. J. Number Theory **176** (2017), 473-499.
- [M1] S. Mochizuki, The local pro-*p* anabelian geometry of curves. *Invent. Math.* **138** (1999), 319-423.
- [M2] S. Mochizuki, Topics surrounding the anabelian geometry of hyperbolic curves. Galois Groups and Fundamental Groups, 451-539. Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., **41**, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [M3] S. Mochizuki, The Absolute Anabelian Geometry of Hyperbolic Curves, Galois Theory and Modular Forms, Kluwer Academic Publishers (2004), 77-122.
- [M4] S. Mochizuki, Absolute anabelian cuspidalizations of proper hyperbolic curves. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 47 (2007), 451-539.
- [M5] S. Mochizuki, A combinatorial version of the Grothendieck conjecture. Tohoku Math. J. (2) 59 (2007), 455-479.
- [N1] H. Nakamura, Rigidity of the arithmetic fundamental group of a punctured projective line. J. Reine Angew. Math. **405** (1990), 117-130.
- [N2] H. Nakamura, Galois rigidity of the étale fundamental groups of punctured projective lines. J. Reine Angew. Math. **411** (1990), 205-216.
- [N3] H. Nakamura, Galois rigidity of pure sphere braid groups and profinite calculus. J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 1 (1994), 71-136.
- [S] J-P. Serre, Local fields. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, **67**. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979.
- [ST1] M. Saïdi, A. Tamagawa, A prime-to-p version of Grothendieck's anabelian conjecture for hyperbolic curves over finite fields of characteristic p > 0. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 45 (2009), 135-186.
- [ST2] M. Saïdi, A. Tamagawa, On the Hom-form of Grothendieck's birational anabelian conjecture in positive characteristic. *Algebra Number Theory* **5** (2011), 131-184.
- [ST3] M. Saïdi, A. Tamagawa, A refined version of Grothendieck's anabelian conjecture for hyperbolic curves over finite fields, to appear in *Journal of Algebraic Geometry*.

- [S1] J. Stix, Affine anabelian curves in positive characteristic. Compositio Math. 134 (2002), 75-85.
- [S2] J. Stix, Projective anabelian curves in positive characteristic and descent theory for log-étale covers. Dissertation, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn, 2002. Bonner Mathematische Schriften, 354. Universität Bonn, Mathematisches Institut, Bonn, 2002.
- [T1] A. Tamagawa, The Grothendieck conjecture for affine curves. Compositio Math. 109 (1997), 135-194.
- [T2] A. Tamagawa, On the fundamental groups of curves over algebraically closed fields of characteristic > 0. *Internat. Math. Res. Notices* (1999), 853-873.
- [T3] A. Tamagawa, Fundamental groups and geometry of curves in positive characteristic. Arithmetic fundamental groups and noncommutative algebra (Berkeley, CA, 1999), 297-333, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 70, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002.
- [T4] A. Tamagawa, On the tame fundamental groups of curves over algebraically closed fields of characteristic > 0. Galois groups and fundamental groups, 47-105, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 41, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [Ta] J. Tate, *p*-divisible groups. 1967 Proc. Conf. Local Fields (Driebergen, 1966), 158-183, Springer, Berlin.

Yu Yang

Address: Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

E-mail: yuyang@kurims.kyoto-u.ac.jp